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CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Proposed
Maximum Proposed
Offering Price Maximum Amount of
Title of each class of securities Amount to be Per Security Aggregate Registration
to be registered Registered (1) 2) Offering Price Fee
Common Stock, $.33 par value (3) 2,151,653 $ 448 $ 9,639,405.44 $ 1,134.56
Common Stock, $.33 par value (4) 805,841 $ 448 $ 3,610,167.68 $ 424.92
Total 2,957,494 $ 448 $ 13,249,573.12 $ 1,559.48(5)

(1) Pursuant to Rule 416 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, there are also registered
hereunder such indeterminate number of additional shares as may be issued to the selling stockholders to prevent
dilution resulting from stock splits, stock dividends or similar transactions.

(2) Estimated solely for purposes of calculating the registration fee in accordance with Rule 457(c) and Rule 457(g)
under the Securities Act of 1933, using the average of the high and low prices as reported on the American Stock
Exchange on April 26, 2005, which was $4.48 per share.

(3) Represents currently outstanding shares of common stock.
(4) Represents shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding common stock purchase warrants.
(5) Previously paid.

The registrant hereby amends this Registration Statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay
its effective date until the registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this
Registration Statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of
1933 or until this Registration Statement shall become effective on such date as the Securities and Exchange
Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a) may determine.
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The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. These securities may not be sold until
the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is
not an offer to sell these securities and is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the
offer or sale is not permitted.

PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS, SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED FEBRUARY 13, 2006

Patient Safety Technologies, Inc.
Up to 2,957,494 Shares of
Common Stock

This prospectus relates to the public offering of an aggregate of up to 2,957,494 shares of common stock which may
be sold from time to time by the selling stockholders of Patient Safety Technologies, Inc. named in this prospectus. Of
these shares, 805,841 shares are issuable upon exercise of warrants held by the selling stockholders.

The shares of common stock are being registered to permit the selling stockholders to sell the shares from time to time
in the public market. The stockholders may sell the shares through ordinary brokerage transactions, directly to market
makers of our shares or through any other means described in the section entitled “Plan of Distribution” beginning on
page 15. We cannot assure you that the selling stockholders will sell all or any portion of the shares offered in this
prospectus.

We have paid the expenses of preparing this prospectus and the related registration expenses.

Our common stock is traded on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol PST. The last reported sales price for
our common stock on February 8, 2006, was $3.86 per share.

The Securities offered hereby involve a high degree of risk.
See “Risk Factors’ beginning on page 5.

We may amend or supplement this prospectus from time to time by filing amendments or supplements as required.
You should read the entire prospectus and any amendments or supplements carefully before you make your
investment decision.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or
disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to
the contrary is a criminal offense.
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Patient Safety Technologies has not authorized anyone to give any information or make any representation about the
company that is different from or in addition to, that contained in this prospectus or in any of the materials that the
company has incorporated by reference into this document. Therefore, if anyone does give you information of this
sort, you should not rely on it. If you are in a jurisdiction where offers to sell, or solicitations of offers to purchase, the
securities offered by this document are unlawful, or if you are a person to whom it is unlawful to direct these types of
activities, then the offer presented in this document does not extend to you. The information contained in this
document speaks only as of the date of this document, unless the information specifically indicates that another date
applied.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

The following summary highlights selected information contained in this prospectus. This summary does not contain
all the information you should consider before investing in the securities. Before making an investment decision, you
should read the entire prospectus and all documents incorporated by reference carefully. On April 1, 2005 we changed
our name from Franklin Capital Corporation to Patient Safety Technologies, Inc. As used throughout this prospectus,
the terms “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Patient Safety Technologies, Inc.

Patient Safety Technologies, Inc.

We currently have four wholly-owned operating subsidiaries: (1) Ault Glazer Bodnar Capital Properties, LLC (f/k/a
Franklin Capital Properties, LLC), a Delaware limited liability company; (2) Patient Safety Consulting Group, LLC
(f/k/a Franklin Medical Products, LLC), a Delaware limited liability company; (3) Surgicount Medical, Inc., a
California corporation; and (4) Ault Glazer Bodnar Merchant Capital, Inc., a Delaware corporation. Our corporate
structure, including our subsidiaries and our interests in public and private companies that we have purchased, is set
forth depicted in the following diagram:

Together with our operating subsidiaries we are currently engaged in the acquisition of controlling interests in
companies and research and development of products and services focused on the health care and medical products
field, particularly the patient safety market. In the past we also focused on the financial services and real estate
industries. Ault Glazer Bodnar Capital Properties, LLC, a real estate development and management company, Patient
Safety Consulting Group, LLC, a healthcare consulting services company, and Ault Glazer Bodnar Merchant Capital,
Inc., a holding company formed to hold our non-patient safety related assets, all were created to augment our
investments in the health care, medical products and financial services and real estate industries.

Until March 31, 2005, we were a non-diversified internally managed, closed-end investment company that elected to
be treated as a business development company (“BDC”) under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. On
March 30, 2005, our shareholders voted to withdraw our election to be treated as a business development company
and on March 31, 2005 we filed an election to withdraw the election with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
We are currently involved in providing capital and managerial assistance to early stage companies in the medical
products, health care solutions, financial services and real estate industries.

In the first half of 2004, we focused our investment strategy on capital appreciation through long-term equity
investments in start-up and early stage companies in the radio and telecommunications industries. Beginning in June
2004, we undertook a strategic restructuring and recapitalization plan which culminated in a change in control in our
management and a shift in our business focus away from the radio and telecommunications industries toward the
medical products, health care solutions, financial services and real estate industries.

1
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On February 25, 2005, in furtherance of our restructuring plan, we purchased Surgicount Medical, Inc., a California
corporation. Surgicount Medical, Inc. is a holding company for intellectual property rights relating to the company’s
Safety-Sponge™ System, which helps reduce the number of retained sponges and towels in patients during surgical
procedures and allows for faster and more accurate counting of surgical sponges. The Safety-Sponge™ System consists
of a handheld scanner and bar-coded surgical dressings. By scanning the surgical dressings in at the beginning of a
surgical procedure and then scanning them out at the end of the procedure, the sponges can be counted faster and more
accurately than traditional methods which require two medical personnel manually counting the used and un-used
sponges. The Safety-Sponge System is in its final preparations for commercial roll-out. Surgicount Medical, Inc. is the
first acquisition in our plan to become a leader in the patient safety market.

In order to meet the expected demand for bar-coded surgical dressings on August 17, 2005 we executed an agreement
with A Plus International, Inc. to supply us with data matrix tagged, bulk and sterile sponges for use with the
Safety-Sponge™ System. The agreement is mutually exclusive and has a term of eight years with options to renew.
Services to be provided by A Plus International, Inc. include manufacturing, packaging, sterilization, logistics and all
related quality and regulatory compliance. A Plus International, Inc. was founded in 1988 and is a global manufacturer
of surgical dressings, patient drapes and surgical gowns. A Plus International, Inc. provides OEM support to the
largest healthcare manufacturers and distributors in the world. A Plus International, Inc. employs over 6,000 people in
seven factories throughout China and maintains over 200,000 sq. ft. of warehouse space in the United States. While
we believe the manufacturing capacity of A Plus International, Inc. will be sufficient to meet our expected demand, in
the event A Plus International, Inc. cannot meet our requirements we may seek additional providers of the
Safety-Sponge™ products.

On June 30, 2005 we announced our intention to separate our non-healthcare assets from our core patient safety

business. Initially, we intended to transfer all of our non-healthcare assets into Ault Glazer Bodnar Merchant Capital,

Inc. and obtain a separate public listing for that company. In September 2005 we abandoned this course in favor of

positioning the assets for liquidation in order to bring in additional funds for the expansion of our patient safety

business. During the quarter ended December 31, 2005, we recognized approximately $1.75 million from stock

appreciation rights which we owned in Excelsior Radio Networks, Inc. and we liquidated some of our real estate

holdings. Additionally, Digicorp, one of our investments, completed an acquisition of Rebel Crew Films, Inc., a film

distribution company, and ceased being a shell company as defined in Rule 12b-2 promulgated pursuant to the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Digicorp’s acquisition of Rebel Crew Films, Inc. reduced our equity interest from
approximately 20% to below 10% and virtually eliminated the need of our management to run the operations of
Digicorp. However, our Chief Financial Officer, William B. Horne, is expected to remain Chief Financial Officer of
Digicorp for the foreseeable future. By reducing our investment in Digicorp to below 10% we will be in a position to

slowly begin liquidating our investment in Digicorp.

While we have primarily focused on liquidating our investments over recent months on July 15, 2005 our wholly
owned subsidiary Ault Glazer Bodnar Merchant Capital, Inc. purchased a 50% interest in Automotive Services Group,
LLC, an Alabama limited liability company, in exchange for $300,000. Upon closing, Ault Glazer Bodnar Merchant
Capital, Inc. became a non-managing member of Automotive Services Group, LLC. Automotive Services Group, LLC
was formed to develop and operate automated car wash sites with the first location under development in
Birmingham, Alabama. During the quarter ended March 31, 2006 Ault Glazer Bodnar Merchant Capital, Inc. intends
to acquire the remaining 50% interest in Automotive Services Group, LLC from Automotive Services Group’s
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Darrell W. Grimsley, Jr., at which time Ault Glazer Bodnar Merchant Capital,
Inc. plans to change its name to Automotive Services Group, Inc. and eventually obtain a separate public listing. The
time schedule for completing this has not yet been determined.

Our principal executive offices are located at 1800 Century Park East, Suite 200, Los Angeles, California. Our
telephone number is (310) 895-7750. Our website is located at http://www.patientsafetytechnologies.com.
2
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Common stock outstanding before the offering

Common stock offered by selling stockholders

Common stock to be outstanding after the offering

Use of proceeds

AMEX Symbol

The Offering
5,837,642 shares as of February 8, 2006

Up to 2,957,494 shares, based on current market prices and
assuming full exercise of outstanding common stock
purchase warrants by the selling stockholders. This
number represents approximately 51% of our current
outstanding stock and includes up to 805,841 shares of
common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding
common stock purchase warrants.

Up to 6,643,483 shares

We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of the
common stock hereunder. We will, however, receive the
sale price of any common stock we sell for cash to the
selling stockholders upon exercise of warrants. See “Use of
Proceeds” for a complete description.

PST
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RISK FACTORS

An investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. Before you invest in our securities you should carefully
consider the risks and uncertainties described below and the other information in this prospectus. Each of the
following risks may materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. These
risks may cause the market price of our common stock to decline, which may cause you to lose all or a part of the
money you paid to buy our securities.

We provide the following cautionary discussion of risks, uncertainties and possible inaccurate assumptions relevant to
our business and our products. These are factors that we think could cause our actual results to differ materially from
expected results.

RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS AND STRUCTURE

We have not made any sales or generated any revenue to date from our Safety-Sponge™ System and a
substantial amount of our revenue during 2005 is from a related party. Because of this, you should not rely on
our historical results of operations as an indication of our future performance.

We have not made any sales or generated any revenue to date from our Safety-Sponge™ System. Further, of our
$616,320 of revenue during the nine months ended September 30, 2005, $586,627 was generated from a contract to
provide management consulting services to one of our portfolio companies IPEX, Inc., which is considered a related
party. Our future success is dependent on our ability to develop our patient-safety related assets into a successful
business, which depends upon wide-spread acceptance of and commercializing our Safety-Sponge™ System. None of
these factors is demonstrated by our historic performance to date and there is no assurance we will be able to
accomplish them in order to sustain our operations. As a result, you should not rely on our historical results of
operations as an indication of the future performance of our business.

We recently restructured our business strategy and objective and have limited operating history under our new
structure. If we cannot successfully implement our new business structure the value of your investment in our
business could decline.

Upon the change of control that occurred in October 2004, we restructured our business strategy and objective to
focus on the medical products, healthcare solutions, financial services and real estate industries instead of the radio
and telecommunications industries. We have a limited operating history under this new structure. Historically, we
have not typically invested in these industries and therefore our historical results of operations should not be relied
upon as an indication of our future financial performance. If we do not successfully implement our new business
structure the value of your investment in our business could decline substantially.

Withdrawal of our election to be treated as a BDC may increase the risks to our shareholders since we are no
longer subject the regulatory restrictions or financial reporting benefits of the Investment Company Act of
1940 (the “1940 Act”).

Since we withdrew our election to be treated as a BDC, we are no longer subject to regulation under the 1940 Act,
which is designed to protect the interests of investors in investment companies. As a non-BDC, we are no longer
subject to many of the regulatory, financial reporting and other requirements and restrictions imposed by the 1940 Act
including, but not limited to, limitations on the amounts, types and prices at which we may issue securities,
participation in related party transactions, the payment of compensation to executives, and the scope of eligible
investments.

The nature of our business is changing from investing in radio and telecommunications companies with the goal of
achieving gains on appreciation and dividend income, to actively operating businesses in the medical products, health

9
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care solutions, financial services and real estate industries, with the goal of generating income from the operations of
those businesses. No assurance can be given that our business strategy or investment objectives will be achieved by
withdrawing our election to be treated as a BDC.

Further, our election to withdraw as a BDC under the 1940 Act will result in a significant change in our method of
accounting. BDC financial statement presentation and accounting utilizes the value method of accounting used by
investment companies, which allows BDCs to recognize income and value their investments at market value as
opposed to historical cost. As an operating company, the required financial statement presentation and accounting for
securities held will be either fair value or historical cost methods of accounting, depending on the classification of the
investment and our intent with respect to the period of time we intend to hold the investment.

4
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A change in our method of accounting could reduce the market value of our investments in privately held companies
by eliminating our ability to report an increase in the value of our holdings as they occur. Also, as an operating
company, we will have to consolidate our financial statements with subsidiaries, thus eliminating the portfolio
company reporting benefits available to BDCs.

We may have to take actions that are disruptive to our business strategy to avoid registration under the 1940
Act.

The 1940 Act generally requires public companies that are engaged primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting,
owning, holding or trading in securities to register as investment companies. A company may be deemed to be an
investment company if it owns “investment securities” with a value exceeding 40% of the value of its total assets
(excluding government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis, unless an exemption or safe harbor
applies. Securities issued by companies other than majority-owned subsidiaries are generally counted as investment
securities for purposes of the 1940 Act. Presently we are near the 40% investment threshold for meeting the definition
of an investment company under the 1940 Act and thus could be required to register as investment company under the
1940 Act in the near future. Registration as an investment company would subject us to restrictions that are
inconsistent with our fundamental business strategy of equity growth through creating, building and operating
companies in the medical products, healthcare services, financial and real estate industries. Moreover, registration
under the 1940 Act would subject us to increased regulatory and compliance costs, and other restrictions on the way
we operate. We may also have to take actions, including buying, refraining from buying, selling or refraining from
selling securities, when we would otherwise not choose to do so in order to continue to avoid registration under the
1940 Act.

We may need to undertake additional financings to meet our growth, operating and/or capital needs, which
may result in dilution to your ownership and voting rights.

We anticipate that revenue from our operations for the foreseeable future may not be sufficient to meet our growth,
operating and/or capital requirements. We believe that we currently have the financial resources to meet our operating
requirements for the next twelve months. We may however undertake additional equity or debt financings to better
enable us to meet our future growth, operating and/or capital requirements. We currently have no commitments for
any such financings. Any equity financing may be dilutive to our stockholders, and debt financing, if available, may
involve restrictive covenants or other adverse terms with respect to raising future capital and other financial and
operational matters. We may not be able to obtain additional financing in sufficient amounts or on acceptable terms
when needed, which could adversely affect our operating results and prospects. If we fail to arrange for sufficient
capital in the future, we may be required to reduce the scope of our business activities until we can obtain adequate
financing.

We have received shareholder approval to sell up to $10 million of equity and/or debt securities to certain
related parties which may result in dilution to your ownership and voting rights or may result in the incurrence
of substantial debt.

We have received shareholder approval to sell equity and/or debt securities up to $10 million in any calendar year to
Milton “Todd” Ault, III, Lynne Silverstein, Louis Glazer, M.D., Ph.G., and Melanie Glazer. Mr. Ault is our former
Chairman and former Chief Executive Officer, Ms. Silverstein is our President and Secretary, Mr. Glazer is our
present Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Health and Science Officer of our subsidiary Patient
Safety Consulting Group, LLC, and Ms. Glazer is the Manager of our subsidiary Ault Glazer Bodnar Capital
Properties, LLC and Mr. Glazer’s spouse. If we propose to sell more than $10 million of securities in a calendar year to
such persons additional shareholder approval would be required. Although we do not currently anticipate selling
equity or debt securities to these persons if we do sell any such securities it will result in dilution to your ownership
and voting rights and/or possibly result in our incurring substantial debt. Any such equity financing would result in
dilution to existing stockholders and may involve securities that have rights, preferences, or privileges that are senior
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to our common stock. Any such debt financing may be convertible into common stock which would result in dilution
to our stockholders and would have rights that are senior to our common stock. Further, any debt financing must be
repaid regardless of whether or not we generate profits or cash flows from our business activities, which could strain
our capital resources.

5
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Should the value of our patents be less than their purchase price, we could incur significant impairment
charges.

At September 30, 2005, patents received in the acquisition of Surgicount Medical, Inc., net of accumulated
amortization, represented $4,495,027, or 41.6%, of our total assets. We perform an annual review in the fourth quarter
of each year, or more frequently if indicators of potential impairment exist to determine if the recorded amount of our
patents is impaired. This determination requires significant judgment and changes in our estimates and assumptions
could materially affect the determination of fair value and/or impairment of patents. We may incur charges for the
impairment of our patents in the future if sales of our patient safety products, in particular our Safety-Sponge™ System,
fail to achieve our assumed revenue growth rates or assumed operating margin results.

We invest in non-marketable investment securities which may subject us to significant impairment charges.

We invest in illiquid equity securities acquired directly from issuers in private transactions. At September 30, 2005,
41.25% of our assets were comprised of investment securities, the majority of which are illiquid investments.
Investments in illiquid, or non-marketable, securities are inherently risky and a number of the companies we invest in
are expected to fail. We review all of our investments quarterly for indicators of impairment; however, for
non-marketable equity securities, the impairment analysis requires significant judgment to identify events or
circumstances that would likely have a material adverse effect on the fair value of the investment. The indicators we
use to identify those events or circumstances includes as relevant, the nature and value of any collateral, the company’s
ability to make payments and its earnings, the markets in which the company does business, comparison to valuations
of publicly traded companies, comparisons to recent sales of comparable companies, the discounted cash flows of the
company and other relevant factors. Because such valuations are inherently uncertain and may be based on estimates,
our determinations of fair value may differ materially from the values that would be assessed if a ready market for
these securities existed. Investments identified as having an indicator of impairment are subject to further analysis to
determine if the investment is other than temporarily impaired, in which case we write the investment down to its
impaired value. When a company is not considered viable from a financial or technological point of view, we write
down the entire investment since we consider the estimated fair market value to be nominal. Although we did not
recognize any impairment for the nine months ended September 30, 2005, since a significant amount of our assets are
comprised of non-marketable investment securities, any future impairment charges from the write down in value of
these securities will adversely affect our financial condition.

We may not be able to effectively integrate our acquisition targets, which would be detrimental to our business.

On February 25, 2005, we purchased Surgicount Medical, Inc., a holding company for intellectual property rights
relating to our Safety-Sponge™ System. We anticipate seeking other acquisitions in furtherance of our plan to acquire
assets and businesses in the medical products, health care solutions, financial services and real estate industries.
Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including potential difficulty in integrating operations, technologies, systems,
and products and services of acquired companies, diversion of management’s attention and disruption of operations,
increased expenses and working capital requirements and the potential loss of key employees and customers of
acquired companies. In addition, acquisitions involve financial risks, such as the potential liabilities of the acquired
businesses, the dilutive effect of the issuance of additional equity securities, the incurrence of additional debt, the
financial impact of transaction expenses and the amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets involved in any
transactions that are accounted for by using the purchase method of accounting, and possible adverse tax and
accounting effects. Any of the foregoing could materially and adversely affect our business.

6
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Failure to properly manage our potential growth would be detrimental to our business.

Any growth in our operations will place a significant strain on our resources and increase demands on our
management and on our operational and administrative systems, controls and other resources. There can be no
assurance that our existing personnel, systems, procedures or controls will be adequate to support our operations in the
future or that we will be able to successfully implement appropriate measures consistent with our growth strategy. As
part of this growth, we may have to implement new operational and financial systems, procedures and controls to
expand, train and manage our employee base and maintain close coordination among our technical, accounting,
finance, marketing, sales and editorial staffs. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to do so, or that if we are able
to do so, we will be able to effectively integrate them into our existing staff and systems. We may fail to adequately
manage our anticipated future growth. We will also need to continue to attract, retain and integrate personnel in all
aspects of our operations. Failure to manage our growth effectively could hurt our business.

If the protection of our intellectual property rights is inadequate, our ability to compete successfully could be
impaired.

In connection with our purchase of Surgicount Medical, Inc., we acquired one registered U.S. patent and one
registered international patent of the Safety-Sponge™ System. We regard our patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade
secrets and similar intellectual property as critical to our business. We rely on a combination of patent, trademark and
copyright law and trade secret protection to protect our proprietary rights. Nevertheless, the steps we take to protect
our proprietary rights may be inadequate. Detection and elimination of unauthorized use of our products is difficult.
We may not have the means, financial or otherwise, to prosecute infringing uses of our intellectual property by third
parties. Further, effective patent, trademark, service mark, copyright and trade secret protection may not be available
in every country in which we will sell our products and offer our services. If we are unable to protect or preserve the
value of our patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets or other proprietary rights for any reason, our business,
operating results and financial condition could be harmed.

Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets, to
determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others, or to defend against claims that our products
infringe upon the proprietary rights of others or that proprietary rights that we claim are invalid. Litigation could result
in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could harm our business, operating results and financial condition
regardless of the outcome of the litigation.

Other parties may assert infringement or unfair competition claims against us. We cannot predict whether third parties
will assert claims of infringement against us, or whether any future claims will prevent us from operating our business
as planned. If we are forced to defend against third-party infringement claims, whether they are with or without merit
or are determined in our favor, we could face expensive and time-consuming litigation, which could distract technical
and management personnel. If an infringement claim is determined against us, we may be required to pay monetary
damages or ongoing royalties. Further, as a result of infringement claims, we may be required, or deem it advisable, to
develop non-infringing intellectual property or enter into costly royalty or licensing agreements. Such royalty or
licensing agreements, if required, may be unavailable on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. If a third party
successfully asserts an infringement claim against us and we are required to pay monetary damages or royalties or we
are unable to develop suitable non-infringing alternatives or license the infringed or similar intellectual property on
reasonable terms on a timely basis, it could significantly harm our business.

There are significant potential conflicts of interest with our officers, directors and our affiliated entities which
could adversely affect our results from operations.

Certain of our officers, directors and/or their family members have existing responsibilities and, in the future, may
have additional responsibilities, to act and/or provide services as executive officers, directors, owners and/or managers

of Ault Glazer Bodnar & Company Investment Management LL.C and/or some of the companies in which we invest.
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We currently share office space with Ault Glazer Bodnar & Company Investment Management LLC. William B.
Horne, our Chief Financial Officer, Melanie Glazer, Manager of our subsidiary Ault Glazer Bodnar Capital Properties,
LLC, and Lynne Silverstein, our President and Secretary, are all principals of Ault Glazer Bodnar & Company
Investment Management LL.C. Mr. Horne and Ms. Silverstein devote approximately 85% of their time to our business,
based on a 60-hour, 6-day workweek. Ms. Glazer works full time for Ault Glazer Bodnar Capital Properties, LLC.
Ms. Silverstein is the stepdaughter of Louis Glazer, our current Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Health and Science Officer of Patient Safety Consulting Group, LLC. Our former Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, Milton “Todd” Ault, 111, also is a principal of Ault Glazer Bodnar & Company Investment Management LLC.
Accordingly, certain conflicts of interest may arise from time to time with our officers, directors and Ault Glazer
Bodnar & Company Investment Management LLC.

7
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Certain conflicts of interest may also arise from time to time with our officers, directors and the companies in which

we invest. Of our $616,320 of revenue during the nine months ended September 30, 2005, $586,627 was generated

during the second quarter of 2005 and resulted from a contract to provide management consulting services to our

portfolio company IPEX, Inc. Mr. Ault is currently a director of IPEX, Inc. and he served as interim Chief Executive

Officer of IPEX, Inc. from May 26, 2005 until July 13, 2005. From May 28, 2005 until approximately December 14,

2005 Mr. Ault held an irrevocable proxy to vote 67% of the outstanding shares of IPEX, Inc. owned by the former

Chief Executive Officer and a founder of IPEX, Inc. Darrell W. Grimsley, Jr., Chief Executive Officer of Automotive

Services Group, LLC, a subsidiary which is 50% owned by Ault Glazer Bodnar Merchant Capital, Inc., served as a

director of IPEX, Inc. and a member of its Audit Committee from August 30, 2005 until January 30, 2006. Ms.

Campbell served as a director of IPEX, Inc. and Chairman of its Audit Committee from June 23, 2005 until January

30, 2006. Mr. Horne is currently Chief Financial Officer and a director of our portfolio company Digicorp. From

September 30, 2005 until December 29, 2005, Mr. Horne also served as Digicorp’s Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of Digicorp’s Board of Directors. One of our directors and Audit Committee Chairman, Alice Campbell, is
currently a director of Digicorp. Mr. Ault served as Chief Executive Officer of Digicorp from April 26, 2005 until

September 30, 2005 and Chairman of Digicorp’s Board of Directors from July 16, 2005 until September 30, 2005. Ms.
Glazer served as a director of Digicorp from December 30, 2004 until December 29, 2005 and Chairman of Digicorp’s
Board of Directors from December 30, 2004 until July 16, 2005. Ms. Silverstein served as Secretary of Digicorp from

April 26, 2005 until December 29, 2005. Mr. Grimsley served as a director of Digicorp from July 16, 2005 until

December 29, 2005.

Because of these possible conflicts of interest, such individuals may direct potential business and investment
opportunities to other entities rather than to us, which may not be in the best interest of our stockholders. We will
attempt to resolve any such conflicts of interest in our favor. Our Board of Directors does not believe that we currently
have any conflicts of interest with the business of Ault Glazer Bodnar & Company Investment Management LL.C,
other than certain of our officers’ responsibility to provide management and administrative services to Ault Glazer
Bodnar & Company Investment Management LLC. and its clients from time-to-time. Similarly, our Board of
Directors does not believe that we have any conflicts of interest with the companies in which we hold investments
other than certain of our officers’ and directors’ responsibility to provide management services to some of such
companies. However, subject to applicable law, we may engage in transactions with Ault Glazer Bodnar & Company
Investment Management LLC. and other related parties in the future. These related party transactions may raise
conflicts of interest and, although we do not have a formal policy to address such conflicts of interest, our Audit
Committee intends to evaluate relationships and transactions involving conflicts of interest on a case-by-case basis
and the approval of our Audit Committee is required for all such transactions. The Audit Committee intends that any
related party transactions will be on terms and conditions no less favorable to us than terms and conditions reasonably
obtainable from third parties and in accordance with applicable law.

Our management has limited experience in managing and operating a public company. Any failure to comply
or adequately comply with federal securities laws, rules or regulations could subject us to fines or regulatory
actions, which may materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Prior to the change in control that occurred in October 2004, our current senior management was primarily engaged in
operating a private investment management firm. In this capacity they developed a general understanding of the
administrative and regulatory environment in which public companies operate. However, our senior management
lacks practical experience operating a public company and relies in many instances on the professional experience and
advice of third parties including its consultants, attorneys and accountants. Failure to comply or adequately comply
with any laws, rules, or regulations applicable to our business may result in fines or regulatory actions, which may
materially adversely affect our business, results of operation, or financial condition.
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Our former Chief Executive Officer controls a significant portion of our outstanding common stock and his
ownership interest may conflict with our other stockholders who may be unable to influence management and
exercise control over our business.

As of February 8, 2006, Milton “Todd” Ault, III, our former Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, beneficially owned
approximately 25.93% of our common stock. As a result, Mr. Ault may be able to exert significant influence over our
management and policies to:

- elect or defeat the election of our directors;
- amend or prevent amendment of our certificate of incorporation or bylaws;
- effect or prevveloped, may not continue for our equity securities, and a holder of any of these securities may find it
difficult to dispose of, or to obtain accurate quotations as to the market value of, such securities.
We have a significant stockholder which has the ability to control our actions.

Resurgence Asset Management, L.L..C. and its and its affiliates managed funds and accounts, or collectively
Resurgence, beneficially own in excess of 98% of our preferred stock and over 55% of our common stock,
representing ownership of 85% of the total voting power of our equity. The interests of Resurgence may differ from
our other stockholders and Resurgence may vote their interests in a manner that may adversely affect our other
stockholders. Through their direct and indirect interests in us, Resurgence is in a position to influence the outcome
of most matters requiring a stockholder vote. This concentrated ownership makes it less likely that any other holder
or group of holders of common stock would be able to influence the way we are managed or the direction of our
business. These factors also may delay or prevent a change in our management or voting control.
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Our Preferred Stock pays a quarterly stock dividend that is dilutive to the holders of our common stock.

Shares of our Preferred Stock carry a cumulative dividend rate of 4% per quarter, payable in additional shares of
our Preferred Stock. Our shares of Preferred Stock are convertible at the option of the holder into shares of our
common stock and vote as if so converted on all matters presented to the holders of our common stock for a vote.
Consequently, each dividend paid in additional shares of our Preferred Stock has a dilutive effect on our shares of
common stock and increases the percentage of the total voting power of equity owned by Resurgence. Preferred Stock
dividends were 952.346 shares (which are convertible into 952,346 shares of our common stock) during 2009, which
represents 10.1% of the current total voting power of our equity securities.

Item 2. Properties

Our petrochemicals facility is located in Texas City, Texas, approximately 45 miles south of Houston, on a
290-acre site on Galveston Bay near many other chemical manufacturing complexes and refineries. We own all of the
real property which comprises our Texas City facility and we own the acetic acid and plasticizers manufacturing
facilities located at the facility. We also lease a portion of our Texas City facility to Praxair, who constructed a partial
oxidation unit on that land, and lease a portion of our Texas City facility to S&L Cogeneration Company, a 50/50 joint
venture between us and Praxair Energy, which constructed a cogeneration facility on that land. Our Texas City facility
offers approximately 160 acres for future expansion by us or by other companies that could benefit from our existing
infrastructure and facilities, and includes a greenbelt around the northern edge of the plant facility. We own 49 railcars
and, at our Texas City facility, we have facilities to load and unload our products and raw materials in ocean-going
vessels, barges, trucks and railcars. Substantially all of our Texas City facility, and the tangible properties located
thereon, are subject to a lien securing our obligations under our Secured Notes. We lease the space for our principal
executive offices, located at 333 Clay Street, Suite 3600 in Houston, Texas. We believe our properties and equipment
are sufficient to conduct our business.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On July 5, 2005, Patrick B. McCarthy, an employee of Kinder-Morgan, Inc., or Kinder-Morgan, was seriously
injured at Kinder-Morgan s facilities near Cincinnati, Ohio, while attempting to offload a railcar containing one of our
plasticizers products. On October 28, 2005, Mr. McCarthy and his family filed a suit in the Court of Common Pleas,
Hamilton County, Ohio (Case No. A0509 144) against us and six other defendants. During the case, five of the other
defendants were dismissed. The plaintiffs sought in excess of $42 million in alleged compensatory and punitive
damages from the defendants in the aggregate. On May 7, 2009, the jury found that we had not been negligent in
connection with the incident and rendered a take nothing verdict in favor of the defendants. On June 24, 2009, the
plaintiffs filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or, in the alternative, a new trial. On September 4,
2009, the Court denied plaintiffs motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, but granted plaintiffs motion for a
new trial. We and the other remaining defendant timely filed notices of appeal of that order, as well as other orders
issued during the trial. We believe that all, or substantially all, of any liability imposed upon us as a result of this suit
and our related out-of-pocket costs and expenses will be covered by our insurance policies, subject to a one million
deductible, which was met in January 2008. We do not believe that this incident will have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows, although we cannot guarantee that a material
adverse effect will not occur.

On February 21, 2007, we, several of our benefit plans and the plan administrators for those plans were sued in a
class action suit, Case No. H-07-0625 filed in the United States District Court, Southern District of Texas, Houston
Division. The plaintiffs are seeking to represent a proposed class of retired employees of Sterling Fibers, Inc., one of
our former subsidiaries that we sold in connection with our emergence from bankruptcy in 2002. The plaintiffs are
alleging that we were not permitted to increase their premiums for retiree medical insurance based on a provision
contained in the asset purchase agreement between us and Cytec Industries Inc. and certain of its affiliates governing
our purchase of our former acrylic fibers business in 1997. During our bankruptcy case, we specifically rejected this
asset purchase agreement and the bankruptcy court approved that rejection. The plaintiffs are claiming that we
violated the terms of the benefit plans and breached fiduciary duties governed by the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act and are seeking damages, declaratory relief, punitive damages and attorneys fees. A trial for this matter
was held during the second week of November 2009 but the court has not yet as issued a ruling. We are
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vigorously defending this action and are unable to state at this time if a loss is probable or remote and are unable to
determine the possible range of loss related to this matter, if any.

On February 4, 2008, we filed a Petition for Declaratory Judgment in the 212th District Court of Galveston
County, Texas (Case No. 08CV0108) against Marathon Petroleum Company LLC, or Marathon, in connection with a
dispute between Marathon and us under a Purchase Agreement for FCC Off-Gas, or the Off-Gas Purchase Agreement.
Under the Off-Gas Purchase Agreement, we purchase an amount of off-gas each month from Marathon within a stated
range at Marathon s option. Following the closure of certain production units at our Texas City facility, our demand for
off-gas has been below the low-end of the stated range. On July 31, 2007, and again on November 19, 2007, we
invoked the undue economic hardship clause of the Off-Gas Purchase Agreement and requested that Marathon enter
into good faith negotiations to modify its terms. After Marathon disputed the applicability of the economic hardship
provision and refused to renegotiate the terms of the Off-Gas Purchase Agreement, we filed a declaratory judgment
action to enforce the terms of the economic hardship provision, and Marathon filed a counter-claim against us for
breach of contract. Marathon contended that Sterling s failure to take the minimum contract quantities has resulted in
damages in the past, which will continue in the future through the end of the term of the Off-Gas Purchase Agreement
on April 30, 2011. On February 26, 2010, we and Marathon entered into a confidential settlement agreement with
respect to this matter. We do not believe that this matter will have a material adverse impact on our business, financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows, although a material adverse effect could occur.

We are subject to various other claims and legal actions that arise in the ordinary course of our business. We do not
believe that any of these claims and actions, separately or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows, although we cannot guarantee that a material adverse
effect will not occur.

As of December 31, 2008, we had a receivable of $1.3 million due from our insurance carriers for reimbursement
of legal costs that exceeded our insurance deductibles and were, therefore, reimbursable through our insurance
carriers. For the year ended December 31, 2009, we incurred $2.1 million of legal costs that are reimbursable under
our insurance policies and received $3.3 million of payments from our insurance carriers, resulting in a receivable
balance of $0.1 million as of December 31, 2009.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Our common stock, par value $0.01 per share, is currently quoted on the Over-the-Counter, or OTC, Electronic
Bulletin Board maintained by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. under the symbol SCHI. The
following table contains information about the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock for the last
two years. Information about OTC Electronic Bulletin Board bid quotations represents prices between dealers, does
not include retail mark-ups, mark-downs or commissions and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.
Quotations on the OTC Electronic Bulletin Board are sporadic, and currently there is no established public trading
market for our common stock.

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

2009 High $ 11.00 $ 10.00 $ 11.00 $ 950
Low $ 850 $ 8.25 $ 8.25 $ 5.00

2008 High $ 21.00 $ 17.00 $ 17.25 $ 17.25
Low $ 1495 $ 13.00 $ 9.00 $ 890

The last reported sales price per share of our common stock as reported on the OTC Electronic Bulletin Board on
December 31, 2009 was $7.00. As of March 5, 2010, there were 263 holders of record of our common stock. This
number does not include stockholders for whom shares are held in a nominee or street name.

Dividend Policy

We have not declared or paid any cash dividends with respect to our common stock since we emerged from
bankruptcy in December 2002. We do not presently intend to pay cash dividends with respect to our common stock
for the foreseeable future. In addition, the ability to pay dividends on our shares of common stock is limited under the
indenture for our Secured Notes. The payment of cash dividends, if any, will be made only from assets legally
available for that purpose, and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, current and anticipated
capital requirements, general business conditions, restrictions under our existing debt instruments and other factors
deemed relevant by our Board of Directors.

Equity Compensation Plan

Under our Amended and Restated 2002 Stock Plan, or our 2002 Stock Plan, officers, key employees and
consultants, as designated by our Board of Directors or our Compensation Committee, may be issued stock options,
stock awards, stock appreciation rights or stock units. Our Compensation Committee or, in the event that our
Compensation Committee is not comprised solely of non-employee directors (as such term is defined in
Rule 16b-3(b)(3) of the Exchange Act), our Board, administers our 2002 Stock Plan. Our 2002 Stock Plan may be
amended or modified from time to time by our Board of Directors in accordance with its terms. Our Board of
Directors or Compensation Committee determines the exercise price of stock options, any applicable vesting
provisions and other terms and provisions of each grant in accordance with our 2002 Stock Plan. Options granted
under our 2002 Stock Plan become fully exercisable in the event of the optionee s termination of employment by
reason of death, disability or retirement, and may become fully exercisable in the event of a change of control. No
option may be exercised after the tenth anniversary of the date of grant or the earlier termination of the option. We
have reserved 1,363,914 shares of our common stock for issuance under our 2002 Stock Plan (subject to adjustment).
There were options to purchase a total of 224,167 shares of our common stock outstanding under our 2002 Stock Plan
as of December 31, 2009, each with an exercise price of $31.60, and an additional 1,139,747 shares of common stock
available for issuance under our 2002 Stock Plan.

The following table provides information regarding securities authorized for issuance under our 2002 Stock Plan as
of December 31, 2009:
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Plan Category

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders

Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders

Total

Number of
securities to
be issued upon
exercise
of outstanding
options,
warrants and
rights

224,167

224,167
21

Weighted-average
exercise
price of

outstanding
options,
warrants and

rights

$ 31.60

$ 31.60

Number of securities
remaining
available for future
issuance
under equity
compensation
plans (excluding
securities
reflected in first
column)

1,139,747

1,139,747
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Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Overview
Business

We were formed in 1986 to acquire a petrochemicals facility located in Texas City, Texas that was previously
owned by Monsanto Company. We are a North American producer of selected petrochemicals used to manufacture a
wide array of consumer goods and industrial products. Our primary products are acetic acid and plasticizers.

Our acetic acid is used primarily to manufacture vinyl acetate monomer and purified terephthalic acid, which are
used in a variety of products, including adhesives, surface coatings, polyester fibers, and films and plastic bottle
resins, respectively. Pursuant to our 2008 Amended and Restated Acetic Acid Production Agreement, or our Acetic
Acid Production Agreement, that extends to 2031, all of our acetic acid production is sold to BP Amoco Chemical
Company, or BP Chemicals. We are BP Chemicals sole source of acetic acid production in the Americas. BP
Chemicals markets all of the acetic acid that we produce and pays us, among other amounts, a portion of the profits
derived from its sales of our acetic acid. In addition, BP Chemicals reimburses us for 100% of our fixed and variable
costs of production, other than specified indirect costs. We also jointly invest with BP Chemicals in capital
expenditures related to our acetic acid facility in the same percentage as the profits from the business we receive from
BP Chemicals.

Our acetic acid facility utilizes BP Chemicals proprietary Cativa carbonylation technology, which we believe
offers several advantages over competing production methods, including lower energy requirements and lower fixed
and variable costs. Acetic acid production has two major raw material requirements, methanol and carbon monoxide.
BP Chemicals, a producer of methanol, supplies 100% of our methanol requirements related to our production of
acetic acid. All of our requirements for carbon monoxide are supplied by Praxair Hydrogen Supply, Inc., or Praxair,
from a partial oxidation unit constructed by Praxair on land leased from us at our site in Texas City, Texas, or our
Texas City facility.

All of our plasticizers, which are used to make flexible plastics, such as shower curtains, floor coverings,
automotive parts and construction materials, are sold to BASF Corporation, or BASF. Under our agreement with
BASF, or our Plasticizers Production Agreement, BASF provides us with most of the required raw materials, markets
the plasticizers that we produce and is obligated to make certain fixed quarterly payments to us and reimburse us
monthly for our actual production costs and capital expenditures relating to our plasticizers facility.

Our Texas City facility is strategically located on Galveston Bay and benefits from a deep-water dock capable of
handling ships with up to a 40-foot draft, as well as four barge docks and direct access to Union Pacific and
Burlington Northern Santa Fe railways with in-motion rail scales on site. Our Texas City facility also has truck
loading racks, weigh scales, stainless and carbon steel storage tanks, three waste deepwells, 160 acres of available
land zoned for heavy industrial use and additional land zoned for light industrial use and a supportive political
environment for growth. In addition, we are in the heart of one of the largest petrochemical complexes on the Gulf
Coast and, as a result, have on-site access to a number of raw material pipelines, as well as close proximity to a
number of large refinery complexes. Given our under-utilized infrastructure and our management, operational and
engineering expertise, as well as our ample unoccupied land, we believe that there are significant opportunities for
further development of our Texas City facility. We are currently pursuing numerous initiatives to attract new
manufacturing, distribution or storage related businesses to our Texas City facility. Specifically, we are seeking
long-term contractual business arrangements or partnerships that will provide us with the ability to realize the value of
our under-utilized assets through profit sharing or other revenue generating arrangements. For development projects
that may have significant capital expenditure requirements, we are considering joint ventures or other arrangements
where we would contribute certain of our assets and our management and operational expertise to minimize our share
of the capital costs. In any case, we expect any new facility constructed at our Texas City facility to lower the amount
of overall fixed costs allocated to each of our operating units and provide us with additional profit.
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Our rated annual production capacity is among the highest in North America for acetic acid. In mid-2009, we and
BP Chemicals implemented an incremental expansion of our acetic acid plant to 1.3 billion pounds of annual capacity,
which represents 17% of total North American capacity, making our acetic acid facility the third largest acetic acid
production facility in North America.

Our petrochemicals products are generally sold to customers for use in the manufacture of other chemicals and
products, which in turn are used in the production of a wide array of consumer goods and industrial products
throughout the world.

Acetic Acid. The North American acetic acid industry has enjoyed a long period of sustained domestic demand
growth, as well as substantial export demand. This has led to North American industry utilization rates above 85%
over the last six years. Although slowdowns in the housing and automotive markets during 2009 resulted in reduced
demand for vinyl acetate monomer, and consequently acetic acid, in North America for the short-term, Tecnon
OrbiChem, or Tecnon, projects acetic acid utilization rates will increase to over 98% by 2013. The North American
acetic acid industry is inherently less cyclical than many other petrochemical products due to a number of important
factors. There are only four large producers of acetic acid in North America. Historically these producers have made
capacity additions primarily through small expansion projects or the exploitation of debottlenecking opportunities.
Finally, the North American acetic acid industry tends to sell most of its products through long-term sales agreements
having formula based pricing mechanisms, eliminating much of the volatility seen in other petrochemicals products
and resulting in more stable and predictable earnings and profit margins.

Global production capacity of acetic acid as of December 31, 2009 was approximately 31 billion pounds per year,
with current North American production capacity at approximately six billion pounds per year. The North American
acetic acid industry is mature and well developed, with the four major acetic acid producers accounting for
approximately 94% of production capacity in North America. Demand for acetic acid is linked to the demand for vinyl
acetate monomer, a key intermediate in the production of a wide array of polymers. Vinyl acetate monomer is the
largest derivative of acetic acid, representing over 35% of global demand. Although slowdowns in the housing and
automotive markets over the last year have reduced global demand for vinyl acetate monomer in the short-term,
annual global production of vinyl acetate monomer is expected to increase from 10.3 billion pounds in 2008 to
14.2 billion pounds in 2013.

Several acetic acid capacity additions have occurred globally since 1998, including an expansion of our acetic acid
unit from 800 million pounds of rated annual production capacity to 1.1 billion pounds during 2005 and from
1.1 billion pounds to 1.3 billion pounds of rated annual production capacity in 2009. These capacity additions were
somewhat offset by reductions of approximately 1.6 billion pounds in annual global capacity from the shutdown of
various outdated acetic acid plants from 1999 through 2001 and the closure by BP Chemicals of two of its outdated
acetic acid production units in Hull, England in 2006 that had a combined annual capacity of approximately
500 million pounds (which had been sold primarily in Europe and South America).

In 1986, we entered into the initial version of our Acetic Acid Production Agreement with BP Chemicals, which
has since been amended several times. We sell all of our acetic acid production to BP Chemicals under our Acetic
Acid Production Agreement and we are BP Chemicals sole source of acetic acid production in the Americas. BP
Chemicals markets all of the acetic acid that we produce and pays us, among other amounts, a portion of the profits
derived from its sales of the acetic acid we produce. In addition, BP Chemicals reimburses us for 100% of our fixed
and variable costs of production (other than specified indirect costs). Revenues from our acetic acid segment were
$87.3 million and $129.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, representing
approximately 76% and 80%, respectively, of our total revenues for such period. Other than our Acetic Acid
Production Agreement, we do not have any material relationships with BP Chemicals.

Plasticizers. Plasticizers are produced from either ethylene-based linear alpha-olefins feedstocks or
propylene-based non-linear technology. We produce both linear and non-linear plasticizers used to make flexible
plastics such as shower curtains, floor coverings, automotive parts and construction materials. Feedstocks for
plasticizers consist of PA and oxo-alcohols. Linear plasticizers have historically received a premium over competing
propylene-based branched products for customers that require enhanced performance properties. Although we have
not been exposed to fluctuations in costs or market conditions due to the contract terms in our Plasticizers Production
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Agreement with BASF, the markets for competing plasticizers may be affected by the cost of the underlying raw
materials, especially when the cost of one olefin rises faster than the other or by the introduction of new products.
Over the last several
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years, the price of linear alpha-olefins increased sharply, which caused many consumers to switch to lower cost
branched products such as propylene-based plasticizers, despite the loss of some performance properties. As a result,
we modified our plasticizer production facilities during the third quarter of 2006 to include branched plasticizers
production. Ultimately, we expect branched plasticizers to replace linear plasticizers for most applications, although
recently some branched plasticizers products have been the subject of health related concerns. Following termination
of the Plasticizers Production Agreement, we may face greater cost fluctuations or exposure to market conditions if
we continue to operate the plasticizers business. For a further description of our agreement with BASF, see
Plasticizers-BASF under Contracts and see Risk Factors .

Our plasticizers business is comprised of two separate products: phthalate esters and phthalic anhydride, together
commonly referred to as plasticizers. Since 1986, we have sold all of our plasticizers production exclusively to BASF
pursuant to our Plasticizers Production Agreement, which has been amended several times. We also previously
produced PA for BASF under the Plasticizers Production Agreement. Under our Plasticizers Production Agreement,
BASF provides us with most of the required raw materials and markets the plasticizers we produce, and is obligated to
make certain fixed quarterly payments to us and to reimburse us monthly for our actual production costs and capital
expenditures relating to our plasticizers facility. Effective as of April 1, 2008, our Plasticizers Production Agreement
was amended and restated in connection with BASF s nomination of zero pounds of PA in response to deteriorating
market conditions, ultimately resulting in the closure of our PA unit. The closure of our PA unit did not, however,
impact our continued production of plasticizers for BASF. In exchange for being relieved of its obligations related to
our PA manufacturing unit, BASF paid us an aggregate amount of approximately $3.2 million. However, we are
obligated to refund 25% of this amount if we restart our PA manufacturing unit during 2010. The $3.2 million
payment from BASF was made in exchange for the termination of BASF s obligations under our Plasticizers
Production Agreement with respect to the operation of our PA manufacturing unit and, consequently, is recognized
using the straight-line method over the restricted period from April 1, 2008 through December 31, 2010. In addition,
during the first half of 2008, BASF paid us approximately $3.7 million for reimbursement of certain direct fixed and
variable costs associated with the shutdown and decontamination of our PA manufacturing unit, which amounts are
not subject to refund. All direct fixed and variable costs associated with the shutdown and decontamination of our PA
manufacturing unit have been incurred and expensed, and the $3.7 million in cost reimbursements was recognized as
revenue in the first half of 2008.

On November 11, 2009, BASF elected to terminate our Plasticizers Production Agreement, effective December 31,
2010, at which time we will no longer produce plasticizers for BASF. We will not be subject to any early termination
penalties in connection with BASF s termination of our Plasticizers Production Agreement. BASF, on the other hand,
will be required to pay us an early termination fee of $9.8 million on December 31, 2010. In December 2010, in
connection with the termination of our Plasticizers Production Agreement, we will be required to refund BASF s $1.0
million pre-payment deposit previously paid by BASF. If we continue to operate our plasticizers business after the
termination of our Plasticizers Production Agreement, we will be required to make payments to BASF for its
undepreciated capital expenditures, related to past capital projects paid by BASF, over the remaining balance of the
original term of our Plasticizers Agreement, based on a straight line, 8-year life. As of December 31, 2010, we expect
the total amount of these undepreciated capital expenditures to be approximately $2.6 million, with approximately
$1.0 million, $0.7 million, $0.6 million, and $0.3 million potentially to be paid in 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014,
respectively. If within 90 days after the termination of our Plasticizers Production Agreement, we provide written
notice to BASF of our election to permanently close our plasticizers facility, the undepreciated capital expenditures
paid by BASF for all capital projects is deemed to be zero, and we will not be required to make any payments to
BASF. In the event we discontinue the plasticizers operations in 2011, we expect to incur approximately $3.0 million
in shutdown and decontamination costs, and the costs and timing for dismantling are unknown at this time; however,
they are not expected to be significant.

Revenues from our plasticizers segment were $26.0 million and $31.0 million for the years ended December 31,
2009 and 2008, respectively, representing approximately 23% and 19%, respectively, of our total revenues for such
period. Gross profits from our plasticizers operations were $5.9 million in 2009 and $4.1 million in 2008, representing
approximately 53% and 14% of our total gross profits in 2009 and 2008, respectively. Under our Plasticizers
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Production Agreement, BASF reimburses us for certain costs, including fixed costs, which are allocated among our

existing operations. In the event that we do not continue to operate our plasticizers facility after December 31, 2010,

the amount of our costs that will be allocated to our acetic acid operations in accordance with our Acetic Acid
Production Agreement will increase, which will adversely affect our profit sharing payments under
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that agreement starting January 1, 2011. In addition, some of the costs currently reimbursed by BASF under our
Plasticizers Production Agreement cannot be allocated to our acetic acid operations. Consequently, to the extent we
cannot reduce or eliminate these costs, these costs will adversely affect our financial results starting January 1, 2011.

In December 2009, we performed an asset impairment analysis on our esters manufacturing unit. We analyzed the
undiscounted cash flow stream from our esters business over the remaining life of the esters manufacturing unit and
compared it to the $2.8 million net book carrying value of our esters manufacturing unit. This analysis showed that the
undiscounted projected cash flow stream from our esters business was higher than the net book carrying value of our
esters manufacturing unit. Based on this analysis, we concluded that our esters manufacturing unit was not impaired as
of December 31, 2009, and that no write-down was necessary. We will, however, accelerate our depreciation on our
esters manufacturing unit in 2010 to ensure that it is fully depreciated by December 31, 2010.

We are in the process of exploring and evaluating our commercial options with respect to continuing our
plasticizers business after the termination of our Plasticizers Production Agreement with BASF. Since we are in the
early stages of evaluating our commercial options regarding our plasticizers business, we cannot predict the ultimate
outcome or the success of continuing the plasticizers business after December 31, 2010. In the event we conclude to
permanently close our plasticizers facility, we have also developed plans for restructuring our operating costs
following the termination of our Plasticizers Production Agreement. If we are unable to continue the plasticizers
operations through other viable commercial options for our plasticizers business or facility or restructure our operating
costs, or are unable to do so at or shortly after December 31, 2010, the termination of our Plasticizers Production
Agreement will likely have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
We have not decided whether we will continue to operate our plasticizers business following December 31, 2010.
However, we do not believe that these effects will impact our ability to continue as a going concern. Other than our
Plasticizers Production Agreement, we do not have any material relationships with BASF.

We lease a portion of our Texas City site to S&L Cogeneration Company, a 50/50 joint venture between us and
Praxair Energy Resources, Inc., or Praxair Energy, which constructed a cogeneration facility on that land. The
cogeneration facility was initially shut down in May 2007 due to the uncertain future of our styrene unit and has
remained idle since that time in order to conduct an assessment of whether the future needs for the cogeneration
facility justified incurring the major maintenance costs required to restart the facility. As our strategic initiatives under
consideration do not require utilization of the steam produced by the cogeneration facility, we and Praxair Energy
amended the Joint Venture Agreement governing S&L Cogeneration Company, or the Joint Venture Agreement, to
extend its term until November 30, 2009 or upon completion of all final audits, and to address several matters related
to the sale of the cogeneration facility, the distribution of S&L Cogeneration Company s assets and the termination and
winding-up of its affairs. Under the amended Joint Venture Agreement, we received distributions from S&L
Cogeneration Company of $5.0 million on August 15, 2008 and one-half of the Mass Emissions Cap and Trade NOx
Allowances attributed to the operation of the cogeneration facility. In October 2008, the Board of Managers of S&L
Cogeneration Company accepted a bid for the cogeneration facility assets and we received a $1.0 million distribution
in December 2008 from S&L Cogeneration Company for the sale of those assets. As of December 31, 2009, our
investment in S&L Cogeneration Company is approximately $0.4 million and we expect to receive approximately
$0.4 million from S&L Cogeneration Company upon termination of the joint venture in 2010. Therefore we do not
believe our investment in S&L Cogeneration Company was impaired as of December 31, 2009.

On September 13, 2008, Hurricane Ike struck the Texas Gulf Coast very near our Texas City facility. Our Texas
City facility was shut down and secured prior to landfall and did not sustain any significant structural damage,
although we did sustain some minor damage to three of our barge docks. Our Texas City facility lost all power and
ancillary utilities during the storm, including our steam boilers. The resulting production outage lasted approximately
15 days, with our Texas City facility returning to normal operating levels on September 28, 2008. The losses we
incurred from Hurricane Ike during 2008 totaled $2.6 million, and we incurred additional expenses of $0.2 million in
2009 related to damages caused by Hurricane Ike. Our total loss from Hurricane Ike of $2.8 million was less than the
deductibles under our insurance policies and, as such, we did not recover any of these losses under our insurance
policies.

Discontinued Operations
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Prior to December 3, 2007, we manufactured styrene monomer and, on September 17, 2007, we entered into a
long-term exclusive styrene supply agreement and a related railcar purchase and sale agreement with NOVA
Chemicals, Inc. to INEOS NOVA LLC, or INEOS NOVA. After the supply agreement became effective, INEOS
NOVA nominated zero pounds of styrene under the supply agreement for the balance of 2007 and, and in response,
we exercised our right to terminate the supply agreement and permanently shut down our styrene facility. Under the
supply agreement, we are responsible for the closure costs of our styrene facility and are also restricted from
reentering the styrene business until November 2012. The restricted period was initially eight years. However, on
April 1, 2008, INEOS NOVA unilaterally reduced the restricted period to five years.

We sold substantially all remaining styrene inventory during the first quarter of 2008. The decommissioning
process was completed by the end of 2008, with $18.9 million of the $19.6 million in total costs associated with the
decommissioning being incurred in 2008. We are not required to dismantle our styrene facility but may elect to do so
in connection with one or more of our strategic initiatives. We believe the cost of dismantling will be minimal due to
the scrap value we can receive from the equipment being dismantled. In July 2008, we announced a reduction in work
force in order to reduce our staffing to a level appropriate for our existing operations and site development projects.
As a result, we reduced our salaried work force by 19 people and our hourly work force by 15 people and recognized
and paid $1.4 million of severance costs in 2008. In addition, as a result of the work force reduction, the accrual of
defined benefits for future services of a significant number of employees was eliminated and we recorded a
curtailment loss of $1.2 million for our benefit plans in 2008.

As a result of our styrene facility being permanently shut down, we have no significant continued involvement in
the styrene business and have, therefore, reported the operating results of these businesses as discontinued operations
in our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008.

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth revenues, gross profit and loss from continuing operations for 2009 and 2008:

Year ended December 31,

2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)
Revenues $ 114,334 $ 161,675
Gross profit 11,134 30,146
Loss from continuing operations (8,037) (254)

Comparison of 2009 and 2008

Revenues and loss from continuing operations

Our revenues were $114.3 million for 2009, a 29% decrease from the $161.7 million in revenues we recorded for
2008. We had a net loss from continuing operations of $8.0 million in 2009, compared to a net loss from continuing
operations of $0.3 million in 2008.

Revenues from our acetic acid operations were $87.3 million in 2009, a 33% decrease from the $129.7 million in
revenues we received from these operations in 2008. This decrease in acetic acid revenues in 2009 compared to 2008
was due to $24.1 million in decreased cost reimbursements from BP Chemicals primarily resulting from lower energy
costs and reduced production of acetic acid. The reduced acetic acid production occurred as a result of the shutdown
of our acetic acid unit in January 2009, due to the economy, and in June and July 2009, for scheduled maintenance. In
addition, our revenues were $11.9 million lower in 2009 compared to 2008 primarily due to a decreased contribution
margin and the fact that revenues for 2008 included the $6.5 million we received from BP Chemicals in connection
with the settlement of a blend gas dispute under our Acetic Acid Production Agreement. Gross profit from our acetic
acid operations was $5.5 million for 2009 compared to $28.1 million for 2008. This $22.6 million
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decrease in gross profit was primarily due to the decreased contribution margin discussed above, increased project
start-up costs, depreciation expense and overhead expenses of approximately $4.2 million in 2009 compared to 2008
and the fact that 2008 included $6.5 million for the blend gas dispute.

Revenues from our plasticizers operations were approximately $26.0 million in 2009, a 16% decrease from the
$31.0 million in revenues we received from these operations in 2008. Our revenues decreased in 2009 compared to
2008 primarily due to our 2008 revenues including $3.7 million in cost reimbursements related to the closure of our
phthalic anhydride, or PA, unit, as well as $1.4 million in cost savings achieved in prior periods that was approved by
BASF in the first quarter of 2008. In addition, our revenues in 2009 were lower than 2008 due to decreased cost
reimbursements of $2.5 million resulting from lower energy costs in 2009 compared to 2008, offset by $0.4 million of
increased revenue amortization for the payment associated with BASF s termination of their obligations related to our
oxo alcohols facility as a result of BASF terminating the Plasticizers Production Agreement effective December 31,
2010, and a $2.7 million increase in revenue due to reimbursements for the 2009 capital project to redesign our
process wastewater treatment system. Gross profit from our plasticizers operations was $5.9 million in 2009 compared
to $4.1 million in 2008. This increase in gross profit was primarily due to $0.9 million for favorable economic indices
and contract gains applicable to various components of reimbursable costs under our Plasticizers Production
Agreement the $0.4 million of additional revenue amortization discussed above and $0.1 million for cost savings
recorded in 2009. In addition, gross profit for 2008 included $0.5 million of depreciation expense for the PA unit
before it was written down to zero in June 2008, $0.6 million for start-up costs and $0.8 million for lawsuit expenses,
offset by $1.4 million of cost savings discussed above.

Other gross profit was a loss of $0.3 million in 2009 compared to a loss of $2.1 million in 2008. This improvement
was primarily a result of reversing a previous $1.0 million litigation reserve in the third quarter of 2009 and a
reduction in styrene residual costs, most of which were re-allocated to our acetic acid and plasticizers segments in
2009.

Impairment of long-lived assets

We recorded zero and $7.4 million for impairment of long-lived assets for the years ended December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008, respectively. The impairments recorded in 2008 consisted of a $6.6 million write-down of our PA
assets as a result of the closure of our PA unit and a $0.8 million write-down of our turbo generator units which were
permanently shut down in 2008.

Other income

Our other income was $3.5 million for 2009 compared to $2.0 million for 2008. This increase in other income was
primarily due to the receipt in 2009 of a $1.1 million previously disputed contractual payment, a $0.4 million gain on
the sale of assets and a $0.3 million gain from the $23.8 million cash purchase in the fourth quarter of 2009 of
$25.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our 10'/,% Senior Secured Notes due 2015, or our Secured Notes, net
of the amortization of a pro rata portion of the related debt issue costs of $0.9 million. The increase in other income
was partially offset by a $0.4 million decrease in reimbursements of legal fees related to various lawsuits during 2009.

Interest and debt related expenses

We recorded $15.8 million and $17.2 million of interest and debt related expenses during 2009 and 2008,
respectively. The reduction in interest and debt expense in 2009 was due to $0.2 million of reduced interest related to
the $23.8 million cash purchase in the fourth quarter of 2009 of $25.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our
Secured Notes and a $0.3 million increase in capitalized interest as a result of the capital projects completed during
the turn-around of our acetic acid facility in 2009. In addition, interest and debt related expenses for 2008 included
$0.5 million of penalty interest paid on our Secured Notes prior to our exchange offer registration statement being
declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission and a $0.3 million write-off of debt fees associated
with the reduction of the commitment under our prior revolving credit facility in the second quarter of 2008.

Interest income

We recorded $0.7 million of interest income during 2009 compared to $4.4 million during 2008. This decrease was
primarily due to significantly lower interest earned on our cash investments during 2009 compared to 2008.
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Provision (benefit) for income taxes

During 2009, our effective tax rate was 39.5% due to a change of $0.6 million in our valuation allowance as a
result of a change in tax law and a $4.6 million tax benefit in continuing operations generated by utilizing income in
discontinued operations and other comprehensive income offset by a corresponding change in the valuation allowance
related to continuing operations. In 2008, our continuing operations effective tax rate of 21.9% resulted from a change
of less than $0.1 million in our valuation allowance. We regularly assess our deferred tax assets for recoverability
based on both historical and anticipated earnings levels. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than
not that these amounts will not be recovered. As a result of our analysis at December 31, 2009, we concluded that a
valuation allowance was needed against our deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2009, our valuation allowance
was $28.2 million, a decrease of $3.2 million from December 31, 2008. This decrease included a valuation allowance
adjustment of $0.9 million for gains in other comprehensive income for adjustments to our benefits plans. As of
December 31, 2009, our overall net deferred tax asset/liability balance was zero.

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax

Net income from our discontinued operations, net of tax, was $8.5 million in 2009 compared to a net loss from
discontinued operations, net of tax, of $8.4 million in 2008. The difference was primarily due to the $18.9 million of
costs we incurred during 2008 to complete the decommissioning of our styrene facility. In addition, we incurred tax
expense of $2.7 million in 2009 compared to zero tax expense in 2008.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
General

Our working capital was $97.7 million as of December 31, 2009, a decrease of $46.9 million from our working
capital of $144.6 million as of December 31, 2008. This decrease was primarily due to the purchase of $25.0 million
in aggregate principal amount of our Secured Notes for $23.8 million, increased capital expenditures of $4.1 million, a
$6.1 million increase in current portion of benefit liabilities resulting from contribution requirements, turn-around
costs of $3.1 million and an $11.9 million decrease in revenue accruals in 2009, partially offset by the reversal of a
$1.0 million litigation reserve and a decreased property tax accrual of $0.8 million.

Our liquidity (i.e., cash and cash equivalents plus total borrowing ability under our revolving credit facility) was
$127.8 million at December 31, 2009, a decrease of $39.4 million compared to our liquidity at December 31, 2008.
This decrease was primarily due to our purchase of $25.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our Secured Notes
in 2009 for $23.8 million, a $7.5 million decrease in our borrowing base as a result of reduced accounts receivable
compared to December 31, 2008 and $10.6 million in capital expenditures in 2009. We periodically review the
balance of our cash on hand in light of our strategic objectives and the restrictions on the use of cash contained in the
indenture for our Secured Notes. As opportunities arise, we intend to utilize our cash as circumstances warrant,
possibly in material amounts, to fund all or a portion of the purchase price of mergers or acquisitions, engage in
project development work, make contributions to our defined benefit plans or purchase our outstanding Secured Notes
on the open market, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise.

We invest our excess cash in various investments. Our cash is invested in money market funds and certificates of
deposit, however, we may invest cash in other high quality, highly liquid cash equivalents from time to time.

Debt

On March 29, 2007, we completed a private offering of $150 million aggregate principal amount of unregistered
Secured Notes pursuant to a Purchase Agreement among us, Sterling Chemicals Energy, Inc., or Sterling Energy, one
of our former wholly-owned subsidiaries, and Jefferies & Company, Inc. and CIBC World Markets Corp., as initial
purchasers. In connection with that offering, we entered into an indenture, dated March 29, 2007, among us, Sterling
Energy, as guarantor, and U. S. Bank National Association, as trustee and collateral agent. On May 6, 2008, Sterling
Energy was merged with and into us. Upon consummation of the merger, Sterling Energy no longer had independent
existence and, consequently, our Secured Notes are no longer guaranteed by Sterling Energy. Pursuant to a
registration rights agreement among us, Sterling Energy and the initial purchasers, we agreed to
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exchange our unregistered Secured Notes for a new issue of substantially identical debt securities registered under the
Securities Act, to cause the registration statement for the exchange offer to become effective by December 24, 2007,
and to complete the exchange offer within 50 days of the effective date of the registration statement. On August 30,
2007, we made an initial filing of the exchange offer registration statement. However, the registration statement was
not declared effective by December 24, 2007, and, as a result, the interest rate on our Secured Notes increased by
0.25% per annum on each of December 25, 2007, March 24, 2008 and June 22, 2008. The registration statement was
declared effective on August 13, 2008, and the exchange offer was closed on September 19, 2008. As a result, the
interest rate on our Secured Notes reverted back to the face amount of 10'/,% per annum when the exchange offer
closed. The additional interest incurred from December 25, 2007 through the closing of the exchange offer was
approximately $0.5 million and was paid on April 1 and October 1, 2008.

Our indenture contains affirmative and negative covenants and customary events of default, including payment
defaults, breaches of covenants and certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency and reorganization. If an event of default
occurs and is continuing, other than an event of default triggered upon certain bankruptcy events, the trustee under our
indenture or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of our outstanding Secured Notes may declare our
Secured Notes to be due and payable immediately. Upon an event of default, the trustee may also take actions to
foreclose on the collateral securing our outstanding Secured Notes, subject to the terms of an intercreditor agreement
dated March 29, 2007, among us, the trustee and The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc, or CIT. Our indenture does not
require us to maintain any financial ratios or satisfy any financial maintenance tests. We are currently in compliance
with all of the covenants contained in our indenture.

Interest is due on our outstanding Secured Notes on April 1 and October 1 of each year. Our outstanding Secured
Notes, which mature on April 1, 2015, are senior secured obligations and rank equally in right of payment with all of
our existing and future senior indebtedness. Subject to specified permitted liens, our outstanding Secured Notes are
secured (i) on a first priority basis by all of our fixed assets and certain related assets, including, without limitation, all
property, plant and equipment and (ii) on a second priority basis by our other assets, including, without limitation,
accounts receivable, inventory, capital stock of our domestic restricted subsidiaries, intellectual property, deposit
accounts and investment property.

In the fourth quarter of 2009, we purchased $25.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our Secured Notes for
$23.8 million in cash in the open market resulting in a $1.2 million gain. This gain was partially offset by the
amortization of a pro rata portion of the related debt issue costs of $0.9 million. In February 2010, we repurchased an
additional $2.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our Secured Notes for $1.9 million, and in the first quarter of
2010, we will amortize less than $0.1 million for the pro rata portion of the related debt issue costs. The $27.0 million
in aggregate principal purchase of our Secured Notes in the fourth quarter of 2009 and in February 2010 is expected to
reduce interest expense for 2010 by approximately $2.7 million.

On December 19, 2002, we entered into a Revolving Credit Agreement, or our revolving credit facility, with CIT
as administrative agent and a lender, and certain other lenders. On March 29, 2007, we amended and restated our
revolving credit facility to, among other things, extend the term of our revolving credit facility until March 29, 2012,
reduce the maximum commitment thereunder to $50 million, make certain changes to the calculation of the borrowing
base and lower the interest rates and fees charged thereunder. On June 30, 2008, we reduced our commitment under
our revolving credit facility to $25 million. On November 7, 2008, we further amended our revolving credit facility to
substantially reduce restrictions and paid the administrative agent an amendment fee plus expenses totaling
approximately $0.1 million in connection with this amendment.

On December 10, 2009, we elected to terminate our revolving credit facility effective January 24, 2010 due to our
substantial cash balances and low working capital needs. There were no penalties or termination fees payable by us in
connection with the early termination of our revolving credit facility. The remaining associated debt issue costs of
$0.2 million will be written off as of the effective termination date.

As of December 31, 2009, total credit available under our revolving credit facility was $7.5 million, there were no
loans outstanding and we had $3.5 million in letters of credit outstanding, resulting in borrowing availability of
$4.0 million.
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On January 31, 2010, we entered into a $5 million Revolving Line of Credit for letters of credit, or our LC Facility,
with JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. or Chase, for the issuance of commercial and standby letters of credit. Our LC
Facility will expire January 31, 2014, and letters of credit issued under this facility bear an annual fee of 1%. On
January 31, 2010, we also entered into an Assignment of Deposit Account Agreement with Chase providing collateral
for the LC facility with a $5 million deposit account. As of February 28, 2010, there were $3.3 million in standby
letters of credit issued under the LC facility.

Cash Flow

Net cash provided by operations was $1.4 million in 2009, compared to $62.4 million in 2008. This decrease in net
cash flow provided by operations during 2009 was primarily due to the monetization of our styrene working capital of
approximately $67.0 million in 2008. Net cash flow used in investing activities was $9.9 million in 2009 compared to
$6.4 million in 2008. This increase was primarily due to increased capital expenditures in 2009 primarily for capital
projects completed during the turn-around of our acetic acid facility and a capital project related to improvements in
our process wastewater treatment system. Net cash flow used in financing activities was $23.8 million in 2009
compared to zero in 2008. This increase was due to the purchase of $25.0 million aggregate principal amount of our
Secured Notes in the fourth quarter of 2009 for $23.8 million.

Distress in the financial markets during 2008 and 2009 has had an adverse impact on financial market activities
including, among other things, volatility in security prices, diminished liquidity and credit availability, rating
downgrades of certain investments and declining valuations of others. We have assessed the implications of these
factors on our current business and determined that there was not a significant impact to our financial condition,
results of operations or liquidity during 2009. We believe that our cash on hand and cash generated from continuing
operations will be sufficient to meet our short-term and long-term liquidity needs for the reasonably foreseeable
future.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures were $10.5 million during 2009 compared to $6.4 million during 2008. Capital
expenditures during 2009 were $5.0 million for our portion of acetic acid related projects, including construction of an
acetic acid pipeline and other replacement and debottlenecking projects, and $1.8 million for a capital project to
redesign our process wastewater treatment system. Costs incurred for routine safety, environmental, replacement
capital and profit improvement projects were $3.7 million for 2009. We anticipate spending approximately
$5.1 million on these types of expenditures during 2010.

Pensions

Our projected benefit obligation under our defined benefit pension plan was $124.3 million and $121.2 million as
of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. This increase in 2009 was primarily due to an actuarial loss of
$4.6 million, and interest costs of $7.2 million, partially offset by benefit payments of $8.7 million.

Critical Accounting Policies, Use of Estimates and Assumptions

A summary of our significant accounting policies is included in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 7, Part II of this Form 10-K. We believe that the consistent application of these policies
enables us to provide readers of our financial statements with useful and reliable information about our operating
results and financial condition. The following accounting policies are the ones we believe are the most important to
the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and require our most difficult, subjective or complex
judgments.

Revenue Recognition

We produce acetic acid and plasticizers and recognize revenues (and the related costs) when persuasive evidence of
an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the sales price is fixed and determinable and collectability is reasonably
assured.
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Acetic Acid. Pursuant to our 2008 Amended and Restated Acetic Acid Production Agreement, or our Acetic Acid
Production Agreement, all of our acetic acid is sold to BP Amoco Chemical Company, or BP Chemicals, who takes
delivery, title and risk of loss at the time the acetic acid is produced. BP Chemicals, in turn, markets and sells the
acetic acid and pays us a portion of the profits derived from those sales. BP Chemicals reimburses us monthly for
100% of our fixed and variable costs of production (excluding some indirect expenses and direct depreciation
associated with machinery and equipment used in the manufacturing of acetic acid) and the revenue associated with
the reimbursement of these costs is included in revenue and is matched against our costs as they are incurred. We
recognize revenue related to the profit sharing component under our Acetic Acid Production Agreement based on
quarterly estimates received from BP Chemicals. These estimates are based on the profits from sales of acetic acid
subject to our Acetic Acid Production Agreement.

Plasticizers. We generate revenues from our plasticizers operations through our Third Amended and Restated
Plasticizers Production Agreement, or our Plasticizers Production Agreement, with BASF Corporation, or BASF.
BASF purchases all of our plasticizers and takes delivery, title and risk of loss at the time of production. We receive
fixed, level quarterly payments which are recognized on a straight-line basis. In addition, BASF reimburses us
monthly for our actual fixed and variable costs of production (excluding direct depreciation associated with machinery
and equipment used in the manufacturing of plasticizers), and the revenue associated with the reimbursement of these
costs is included in revenue and is matched against our costs as they are incurred.

Deferred revenue. Deferred credits are amortized over the life of the contracts which gave rise to them. As of
December 31, 2009, related to continuing operations, we had a balance in deferred income of approximately
$4.8 million, which represents certain payments received from our oxo-alcohol and PA operations, which previously
were part of our plasticizers business. The oxo alcohol payment was previously being amortized using the straight-line
method over an eight year life that ended on December 31, 2013, the original termination date of our Plasticizers
Production Agreement. As a result of BASF s election to terminate our Plasticizers Production Agreement, effective
December 31, 2010, the original eight year life was changed to five years and the remaining unamortized balance of
$3.6 million will be recognized in 2010. The PA payment is being amortized using the straight-line method over the
remaining life of our Plasticizers Production Agreement of one year, and the remaining unamortized balance of
$1.2 million will be recognized in 2010. In discontinued operations, as of December 31, 2009, we had a balance in
deferred income of approximately $35.4 million related to payments made to us under our exclusive styrene
production agreement with NOVA Chemicals Inc. which is being amortized using the straight-line method over the
contractual non-compete period of five years, of which approximately three years remain. Approximately
$12.4 million will be recognized in discontinued operations in 2010.

Preferred Stock Dividends

We record preferred stock dividends on our Preferred Stock in our consolidated statements of operations based on
the estimated fair value of dividends at each dividend accrual date. Our Preferred Stock has a dividend rate of 4% per
quarter of the liquidation value of the outstanding shares of our Preferred Stock, and is payable in arrears in additional
shares of our Preferred Stock on the first business day of each calendar quarter. The liquidation value of each share of
our Preferred Stock is $13,793 per share, and each share of our Preferred Stock is convertible into shares of our
common stock (on a one to 1,000 share basis, subject to adjustment). The carrying value of our Preferred Stock in our
consolidated balance sheets represents the initial fair value at original issuance in 2002 plus the initial fair value of
each of the quarterly dividends paid since issuance. The fair value of our Preferred Stock
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dividends is determined each quarter using valuation techniques that include a component representing the intrinsic
value of the dividends (which represent the greater of the liquidation value of the shares of Preferred Stock being
issued or the fair value of the common stock into which those shares could be converted) and an option component
(which is determined using a Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model). These dividends are subtracted from net income
in our consolidated statements of operations, and added to the balance of Redeemable Preferred Stock in our
consolidated balance sheets. As we are in an accumulated deficit position, these dividends are treated as a reduction to
additional paid-in capital.

Assumptions utilized in the Black-Scholes model include: 2009 2008
Risk-free interest rate 2.7% 1.6%
Volatility 72.2% 63.6%
Dividend yield

Expected term 5.0 5.0

Long-Lived Assets

We assess our long-lived assets for impairment whenever facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be fully recoverable. To analyze recoverability, we project undiscounted net future cash flows over the
remaining life of the assets. If the projected cash flows from the assets are less than the carrying amount, an
impairment is recognized. Any impairment loss would be measured based upon the difference between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the relevant assets. For these impairment analyses, impairment is determined by
comparing the estimated fair value of these assets, utilizing the present value of expected net cash flows, to the
carrying value of these assets. In determining the present value of expected net cash flows, we estimate future net cash
flows from these assets and the timing of those cash flows and then apply a discount rate to reflect the time value of
money and the inherent uncertainty of those future cash flows. The discount rate we use is based on our estimated cost
of capital. The assumptions we use in estimating future cash flows are consistent with our internal planning.

In the second quarter of 2008, as a result of the permanent shutdown of our phthalic anhydride, or PA,
manufacturing unit, our management determined that a triggering event, as defined in the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, or FASB, Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, Topic 360, Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets, had occurred and, as a result, we performed an asset impairment analysis on our PA
manufacturing unit. We analyzed the undiscounted cash flow stream from our PA business over the remaining life of
our PA manufacturing unit and compared it to the $6.6 million net book carrying value of our PA manufacturing unit.
This analysis showed that the undiscounted projected cash flow stream from our PA business was less than the net
book carrying value of our PA manufacturing unit. As a result, we performed a discounted cash flow analysis and
subsequently concluded that our PA manufacturing unit was impaired and should be written down to zero. This
write-down caused us to record an impairment of $6.6 million in June 2008.

In the third quarter of 2008, our management determined that a triggering event, as defined in ASC Topic 360, had
occurred as a result of the decision to permanently discontinue the use of some of our turbo generator units located at
our Texas City facility. This decision was based on an economic analysis of the future use of the turbo generator units.
During the third quarter of 2008, we performed an asset impairment analysis on these turbo generator units and
determined the best estimate of fair market value would be the anticipated sales proceeds. We estimated the
anticipated sales proceeds to be approximately $1.0 million. As a result, we concluded that our turbo generator units
were impaired and should be written down to $1.0 million. This write-down resulted in an impairment charge of
$0.8 million during the third quarter of 2008. During 2009, one of the turbo generator units was utilized in a capital
project to convert 650 pound steam to 250 pound steam and thus reduce our steam costs. We still plan to sell or utilize
the remaining turbo generator, and therefore believe no further impairment is necessary at this time.

In the fourth quarter of 2009, our management determined that a triggering event, as defined in ASC Topic 360,
had occurred as a result of BASF electing to terminate our Plasticizers Production Agreement, effective December 31,
2010. In December 2009, we performed an asset impairment analysis on our esters manufacturing unit. We analyzed
the undiscounted cash flow stream from our esters business over the remaining life of the esters
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manufacturing unit and compared it to the $2.8 million net book carrying value of our esters manufacturing unit. This
analysis showed that the undiscounted projected cash flow stream from our esters business was higher than the net
book carrying value of our esters manufacturing unit. Based on this analysis, we concluded that our esters unit was not
impaired as of December 31, 2009, and that no write-down is necessary. We will however accelerate our depreciation
on our esters manufacturing unit in 2010 to ensure it is fully depreciated by December 31, 2010.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided for revenue and expenses which are recognized in different periods for income
tax and financial statement purposes. We regularly assess deferred tax assets for recoverability based on both
historical and anticipated earnings levels, and a valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that
these amounts will not be recovered. As a result of our analysis at December 31, 2009, we concluded that a valuation
allowance was needed against our deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2009, our valuation allowance was $28.2
million, a decrease of $3.2 million from December 31, 2008. The decrease included a valuation allowance adjustment
of $1.4 million related to our state taxes and credits and $0.9 million due to gains in other comprehensive income for
adjustments to our benefits plans. As of December 31, 2009, our overall net deferred tax asset/liability balance was
Zero.

Employee Benefit Plans

We sponsor domestic defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans. Major assumptions used in the
accounting for these employee benefit plans include the discount rate, expected long-term rate of return on plan assets
and health care cost increase projections. Assumptions are determined based on our historical data and appropriate
market indicators, and are evaluated each year as of the plans measurement dates. A change in any of these
assumptions would have an effect on net periodic pension and postretirement benefit costs reported in our financial
statements. Accounting guidance applicable to pension plans does not require immediate recognition of the current
year effects of a deviation between these assumptions and actual experience. We experienced significant negative
pension asset returns in 2008, the result of which materially increased our pension expense for 2009. In 2009, we were
able to recover about one-half of the negative pension asset returns from 2008. The 2009 pension expense, on a
pre-tax basis, is $4.4 million, however a significant portion will be reimbursed through existing contractual
arrangements.

During the third quarter of 2008, as a result of our work force reduction announced in July 2008, and in accordance
with ASC Topic 715, Compensation Retirement Benefits , or ASC Topic 715, we recorded plan curtailment losses in
discontinued operations of $0.9 million for our defined benefit pension plans and $0.3 million for our post-retirement
medical plan.

Plant Turn-around Costs

As a part of normal recurring operations, each of our manufacturing units is completely shut down from time to
time, for a period typically lasting two to four weeks, to replace catalysts and perform major maintenance work
required to sustain long-term production. These periods are commonly referred to as turn-arounds or shutdowns. Costs
of turn-arounds are expensed as incurred. As expenses for turn-arounds can be significant, the impact of expensing
turn-around costs as they are incurred can be material for financial reporting periods during which the turn-arounds
actually occur. Turn-around costs expensed during 2009 and 2008 that are included in continuing operations were
$3.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

New Accounting Standards

In September 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-12, an amendment to ASC Topic 820-10, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures Overall, or ASU No. 2009-12, to provide guidance on the fair value measurement of
investments in certain entities that calculate net asset value per share (or its equivalent). ASU No. 2009-12 is effective
for interim and annual reporting periods ending after December 15, 2009. We do not believe the implementation of
ASU 2009-12 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06, an amendment to ASC Topic 820-10, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 820): Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements , or ASU
No. 2010-06. ASU No. 2010-06 requires some new disclosures and clarifies some existing disclosure requirements
about fair value measurement as set forth in Codification Subtopic 820-10. The objective of ASU No. 2010-06 is to
improve these disclosures and, thus, increase the transparency in financial reporting. Specifically, ASU 2010-06
amends Codification Subtopic 820-10 to now require:
a reporting entity to disclose separately the amounts of significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2
fair value measurements and describe the reasons for the transfers; and

in the reconciliation for fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs, a reporting entity to
present separately information about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements.

In addition, ASU 2010-06 clarifies the requirements of the following existing disclosures:
for purposes of reporting fair value measurement for each class of assets and liabilities, a reporting entity needs
to use judgment in determining the appropriate classes of assets and liabilities; and

a reporting entity should provide disclosures about the valuation techniques and inputs used to measure fair

value for both recurring and nonrecurring fair value measurements.
ASU 2010-06 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the
disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements in the roll forward of activity in Level 3 fair value
measurements. Those disclosures are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010 and for interim
periods within those fiscal years. Early application is permitted. We do not believe the implementation of ASU
2010-06 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

34

Table of Contents 40



Edgar Filing: Patient Safety Technologies, Inc - Form S-3/A

Table of Contents

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
INDEX TO HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Sterling Chemicals, Inc.
Audited Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31. 2009 and 2008
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31. 2009

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders Equity (Deficiency in Assets) for the years ended
December 31. 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

35

Table of Contents



Edgar Filing: Patient Safety Technologies, Inc - Form S-3/A

Table of Contents

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Sterling Chemicals, Inc.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Sterling Chemicals, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the
Company ) as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in
stockholders equity (deficiency in assets) and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31,
2009. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Sterling Chemicals, Inc. as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2009 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

Houston, Texas
March 24, 2010
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STERLING CHEMICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Dollars in Thousands, Except Share Data)

Year ended December 31,

2009 2008

Revenues $ 114,334 $ 161,675
Cost of goods sold 103,200 131,529
Gross profit 11,134 30,146
Selling, general and administrative expenses 12,875 12,331
Impairment of long-lived assets 7,403
Interest and debt related expenses 15,767 17,175
Interest income (742) (4,408)
Other income (3,481) (2,030)
Loss from continuing operations before income tax (13,285) (325)
Benefit for income taxes (5,248) (71)
Loss from continuing operations $ (8,037 $ (254)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax expense of $2,679 and
zero, respectively 8,472 (8,366)
Net income (loss) $ 435 $ (8,620
Preferred stock dividends 16,921 17,741
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (16,486) $ (26,361)
(Loss) income per share of common stock attributable to common stockholders,
basic and diluted:
Loss from continuing operations $ (8.83) $ (6.36)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 3.00 (2.96)
Basic and diluted loss per share $ (5.83) $ (9.32)
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted 2,828,460 2,828,460

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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STERLING CHEMICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in Thousands, Except Share Data)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $58 and $18, respectively
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Assets of discontinued operations, net

Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Other assets, net

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS DEFICIENCY IN ASSETS

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Liabilities of discontinued operations

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Deferred credits and other liabilities

Long-term liabilities of discontinued operations
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)
Redeemable preferred stock

Stockholders deficiency in assets:

Common stock, $.01 par value (shares authorized 100,000,000; shares issued and
outstanding 2,828,460)

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total stockholders deficiency in assets

Total liabilities and stockholders deficiency in assets

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2009 2008
$ 123,778 $ 156,126
14,614 25,607
5,268 5,221
2,539 2,473
24 166
146,223 189,593
68,182 67,811
5,760 7,838
$ 220,165 $ 265,242
$ 11,703 $ 12,520
24,416 20,008
12,384 12,444
48,503 44,972
125,000 150,000
41,084 59,103
23,010 35,394
134,528 117,607
28 28
106,948 123,740
(240,780) (241,215)
(18,156) (24,387)
(151,960) (141,834)
$ 220,165 $ 265,242
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STERLING CHEMICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY (DEFICIENCY IN ASSETS)
(Amounts in Thousands)

Accumulated
Additional Other
Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Comprehensive
Income
Shares  Amount Capital Deficit (Loss) Total
Balance, December 31,
2007 2,828 $ 28 $ 141,174 $ (232,595) % 17,253 $ (74,140)
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss (8,620)
Other comprehensive
loss:
Benefit adjustment, net of
tax of zero (41,640)
Comprehensive loss (50,260)
Preferred stock dividends (17,741) (17,741)
Stock-based
compensation 307 307

Balance, December 31,
2008 2,828 $ 28 $ 123,740 $ (241,215 $ (24,387) $(141,834)

Comprehensive income:

Net income 435

Other comprehensive

income:

Benefit adjustment, net of

tax of $1,970 6,231

Comprehensive income: 6,666

Preferred stock dividends (16,921) (16,921)
Stock-based

compensation 129 129

Balance, December 31,
2009 2,828 $ 28 $ 106,948 $ (240,780) $ (18,156) $(151,960)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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STERLING CHEMICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in Thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating

activities:

Stock compensation expense

Blend gas deferred payments

Bad debt expense (benefit)

Benefit plans curtailment loss
Depreciation and amortization

Interest amortization

Unearned income amortization
Impairment of long-lived assets
Lower-of-cost-or-market adjustment
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Net gain on purchase of Senior Secured Notes
Other

Change in assets/liabilities:

Accounts and other receivables
Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows used in investing activities:

Capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment

Net proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows used in financing activities:

Purchase of Senior Secured Notes

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year
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2009

435

129
64

9,852
1,091
(14,976)

€2))
(635)
(291)
(149)

11,072
(236)
(66)

92
(143)

4,348
(9,196)

1,360

(10,529)
635

(9,894)

(23,814)

(23,814)

(32,348)
156,126

Year ended December 31,

2008

$ (8,620)

307
(2,653)
&)
1,197
9,475
1,347
(13,036)
7,403
351

(353)
62,688
15,181

425

5,377
(4,604)
(1,865)
(10,255)

62,360

6,417)

(6,417)

55,943
100,183
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Cash and cash equivalents end of year $ 123,778 $ 156,126
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Interest paid $ 15,866 $ 15,849
Interest income received 742 4,408
Income taxes paid (598) 313

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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STERLING CHEMICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Unless otherwise indicated, references to we, us, our and ours refer collectively to Sterling Chemicals, Inc. and :

wholly-owned subsidiaries. We own or operate facilities at our petrochemicals complex located in Texas City, Texas,
or our Texas City facility, approximately 45 miles south of Houston, on a 290-acre site on Galveston Bay near many
other chemical manufacturing complexes and refineries. Currently, we produce acetic acid and plasticizers and, prior
to the shutdown of our styrene operations in December 2007, we also produced styrene. We own all of the real
property which comprises our Texas City facility and we own the acetic acid, plasticizers and styrene manufacturing
units located at the site. Our Texas City facility offers approximately 160 acres for future expansion by us or by other
companies that could benefit from our existing infrastructure and facilities, and includes a greenbelt around the
northern edge of the site. We also lease a portion of our Texas City facility to Praxair Hydrogen Supply, Inc., or
Praxair, who constructed a partial oxidation unit on that land, and we lease a portion of our Texas City site to S&L
Cogeneration Company, a 50/50 joint venture between us and Praxair Energy Resources, Inc., who constructed a
cogeneration facility on that land. We generally sell our petrochemicals products to customers for use in the
manufacture of other chemicals and products, which in turn are used in the production of a wide array of consumer
goods and industrial products. As of December 31, 2009, we reported our operations in two segments: acetic acid and
plasticizers.

Reclassifications and Revisions:

During the quarter ended March 31, 2009, we determined we had incorrectly accounted for certain utility
allocations at our Texas City facility, specifically accounting for the flow of water throughout our facility. In
December 2009 we reviewed our basis for the proper allocation of our steam billings and determined that there were
additional modifications to our steam billings. We evaluated the materiality of the misstatements from qualitative and
quantitative perspectives and concluded that although the misstatements were immaterial to all prior year financial
statements, their correction in fiscal 2009 would be material. Therefore, we revised the consolidated statement of
operations, statement of changes in stockholder s equity (deficiency in assets) and the statement of cash flows for the
year ended December 31, 2008 and the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2008, to correct the utility
allocation misstatement.

The following table summarizes the effects of the revisions on the applicable periods:

Year Ended
December 31, 2008
(Dollars in Thousands,
Except Per Share Data)
Previously
Reported As Revised
Statement of Operations:
Revenues $161,452 $ 161,675
Cost of goods sold 131,154 131,529
Gross profit 30,298 30,146
Loss from continuing operations before income tax (173) (325)
Loss from continuing operations (102) (254)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax of zero (8,262) (8,366)
Net loss (8,364) (8,620)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders (26,105) (26,361)

Loss per share of common stock attributable to common stockholders, basic and
diluted:
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Year Ended
December 31, 2008
(Dollars in Thousands,
Except Per Share Data)
Previously
Reported As Revised
Loss from continuing operations $ (6.31) $ (6.36)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (2.92) (2.96)
Basic and diluted loss per share $ (9.23) $ (9.32)
Year Ended
December 31, 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)
Previously
Reported As Revised
Statement of Cash Flows:
Net loss $ (8,364) $  (8,620)
Change in accounts and other receivables 62,911 62,688
Change in accounts payable (5,083) (4,604)
As of December 31, 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)
Previously As Revised
Reported
in in 2009 Form
2008
Form
10-K 10-Q s As Revised
Balance Sheet:
Accounts and other receivables, net of allowance $ 22,080 $ 23,163 $ 25,607
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,704 2,473
Total current assets 186,297 187,380 189,593
Total assets 261,946 263,029 265,242
Accounts payable 8,915 12,520
Total current liabilities 41,367 44,972
Accumulated deficit (240,906) (239,823) (241,215)
Total stockholders deficiency in assets (141,525) (140,442) (141,834)
Total liabilities and stockholders deficiency in assets 261,946 263,029 265,242
As of December 31, 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)
Previously
Reported As Revised
Statement of Changes in Stockholder s Equity (Deficiency in Assets):
Net loss $ (8,364) $ (8,620)
Comprehensive loss (50,004) (50,260)
Accumulated deficit (240,906) (241,215)
Total stockholders deficiency in assets (141,525) (141,834)
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We have reclassified certain amounts on the consolidated statement of cash flows to stock compensation expense
from other adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities, and between
changes in other assets and other adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating
activities, for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, with all significant
intercompany accounts and transactions having been eliminated. Our 50% equity investment in S&L Cogeneration
Company is accounted for under the equity method. Our investment in S&L Cogeneration Company was $0.4 million
as of December 31, 2009 and 2008. We recognized a loss from this investment of $0.1 million and income of
$1.1 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all investments having an initial maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Our cash is
invested in money market funds and certificates of deposit, however, we may invest cash in other high quality, highly
liquid cash equivalents from time to time. We maintain balances at financial institutions which may exceed Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation limits. We have not experienced any losses in such accounts and do not believe we are
exposed to any significant risks on our cash or other investments.

42

Table of Contents 52



Edgar Filing: Patient Safety Technologies, Inc - Form S-3/A

Table of Contents

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are presented net of allowance for doubtful accounts. We regularly review our accounts
receivable balances and, based on estimated collectability, adjust the allowance account accordingly. As of
December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the allowance for doubtful accounts for continuing operations was
$0.1 million and less than $0.1 million, respectively, and less than $0.1 million and zero, respectively for discontinued
operations. Bad debt expense for continuing operations was less than $0.1 million for 2009 and bad debt benefit for
continuing operations was less than $0.1 million for 2008. Bad debt expense for discontinued operations was less than
$0.1 million and zero for 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Inventories

Inventories include raw materials, supplies and spare parts which are valued at average cost. Raw materials and
supplies are carried at the lower-of-cost-or-market value. The comparison of cost to market value involves estimation
of the market value of our products. For the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, this comparison
led to a lower-of-cost-or-market adjustment of less than $0.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively. Spare parts are
examined for obsolescence and are carried at their net realizable value. For the year ended December 31, 2009, we
increased our obsolescence accrual by $0.2 million for spare parts associated with operations that have been shut
down.
Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Major renewals and improvements, which extend the useful
lives of equipment, are capitalized. For certain capital projects, our customers reimburse us for a portion of the project
cost. For capital expenditures reimbursed by our customers, we treat the reimbursements as a reduction of our cost
basis. Disposals are removed at carrying cost less accumulated depreciation with any resulting gain or loss reflected in
operations. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives ranging from five to
25 years, with the predominant life of plant and equipment being 15 years. We capitalize interest costs, which are
incurred as part of the cost of constructing major facilities and equipment. The amount of interest capitalized in
continuing operations was $0.7 million and $0.2 million for 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Plant Turn-around Costs

As a part of normal recurring operations, each of our manufacturing units is completely shut down from time to
time, for a period typically lasting two to four weeks, to replace catalysts and perform major maintenance work
required to sustain long-term production. These periods are commonly referred to as turn-arounds or shutdowns. Costs
of turn-arounds are expensed as incurred. As expenses for turn-arounds can be significant, the impact of expensing
turn-around costs as they are incurred can be material for financial reporting periods during which the turn-arounds
actually occur. Turn-around costs expensed during 2009 and 2008 that are included in continuing operations were
$3.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively.
Long-Lived Assets

We assess our long-lived assets for impairment whenever facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be fully recoverable. To analyze recoverability, we project undiscounted net future cash flows over the
remaining life of the assets. If the projected cash flows from the assets are less than the carrying amount, an
impairment is recognized. Any impairment loss would be measured based upon the difference between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the relevant assets. For these impairment analyses, impairment is determined by
comparing the estimated fair value of these assets, utilizing the present value of expected net cash flows, to the
carrying value of these assets. In determining the present value of expected net cash flows, we estimate future net cash
flows from these assets and the timing of those cash flows and then apply a discount rate to reflect the time value of
money and the inherent uncertainty of those future cash flows. The discount rate we use is based on our estimated cost
of capital. The assumptions we use in estimating future cash flows are consistent with our internal planning.
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In the second quarter of 2008, as a result of the permanent shutdown of our phthalic anhydride, or PA,
manufacturing unit, our management determined that a triggering event, as defined in the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, or FASB, Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, Topic 360, Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets, had occurred and, as a result, we performed an asset impairment analysis on our PA
manufacturing unit. We analyzed the undiscounted cash flow stream from our PA business over the remaining life of
our PA manufacturing unit and compared it to the $6.6 million net book carrying value of our PA manufacturing unit.
This analysis showed that the undiscounted projected cash flow stream from our PA business was less than the net
book carrying value of our PA manufacturing unit. As a result, we performed a discounted cash flow analysis and
subsequently concluded that our PA manufacturing unit was impaired and should be written down to zero. This
write-down caused us to record an impairment of $6.6 million in June 2008.

In the third quarter of 2008, our management determined that a triggering event, as defined in ASC Topic 360, had
occurred as a result of the decision to permanently discontinue the use of some of our turbo generator units located at
our Texas City facility. This decision was based on an economic analysis of the future use of the turbo generator units.
During the third quarter of 2008, we performed an asset impairment analysis on these turbo generator units and
determined the best estimate of fair market value would be the anticipated sales proceeds. This determination of fair
market value was based on Level 3 inputs that are not corroborated by observable market data. We estimated the
anticipated sales proceeds to be approximately $1.0 million. As a result, we concluded that our turbo generator units
were impaired and should be written down to $1.0 million. This write-down resulted in an impairment charge of
$0.8 million during the third quarter of 2008. During 2009, one of the turbo generator units was utilized in a capital
project to convert 650 pound steam to 250 pound steam and thus reduce our steam costs. We still plan to sell or utilize
the remaining turbo generator, and therefore believe no further impairment is necessary at this time.

In the fourth quarter of 2009, our management determined that a triggering event, as defined in ASC Topic 360,
had occurred as a result of BASF electing to terminate our Plasticizers Production Agreement, effective December 31,
2010. In December 2009, we performed an asset impairment analysis on our esters manufacturing unit. We analyzed
the undiscounted cash flow stream from our esters business over the remaining life of the esters manufacturing unit
and compared it to the $2.8 million net book carrying value of our esters manufacturing unit. This analysis showed
that the undiscounted projected cash flow stream from our esters business was higher than the net book carrying value
of our esters manufacturing unit. Based on this analysis, we concluded that our esters unit was not impaired as of
December 31, 2009, and that no write-down is necessary. We will however accelerate our depreciation on our esters
manufacturing unit in 2010 to ensure it is fully depreciated by December 31, 2010.

Other Assets

Investee companies not accounted for under the consolidation or the equity method of accounting are accounted for
under the cost method of accounting. Under this method, our share of earnings or losses from an investee company is
not included in our consolidated balance sheet or consolidated statement of operations. However, any impairment
charges related to an investee company would be recognized in our consolidated statement of operations, and if
circumstances suggested that the value of that investee company had subsequently recovered, such recovery would not
be recorded. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, we had a cost method investment of $0.5 million included in other
assets in our consolidated balance sheet.

Revenue Recognition

We produce acetic acid and plasticizers and recognize revenues (and the related costs) when persuasive evidence of
an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the sales price is fixed and determinable and collectability is reasonably
assured.

Acetic Acid. Pursuant to our 2008 Amended and Restated Acetic Acid Production Agreement, or our Acetic Acid
Production Agreement, all of our acetic acid is sold to BP Amoco Chemical Company, or BP Chemicals, who takes
delivery, title and risk of loss at the time the acetic acid is produced. BP Chemicals, in turn, markets and sells the
acetic acid and pays us a portion of the profits derived from those sales. BP Chemicals reimburses us monthly for
100% of our fixed and variable costs of production (excluding some indirect expenses and direct depreciation
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associated with machinery and equipment used in the manufacturing of acetic acid) and the revenue associated with
the reimbursement of these costs is included in revenue and is matched against our costs as they are incurred. We
recognize revenue related to the profit sharing component under our Acetic Acid Production Agreement based on
quarterly estimates received from BP Chemicals. These estimates are based on the profits from sales of acetic acid
subject to our Acetic Acid Production Agreement.

Plasticizers. We generate revenues from our plasticizers operations through our Third Amended and Restated
Plasticizers Production Agreement, or our Plasticizers Production Agreement, with BASF Corporation, or BASF.
BASF purchases all of our plasticizers and takes delivery, title and risk of loss at the time of production. We receive
fixed, level quarterly payments which are recognized on a straight-line basis. In addition, BASF reimburses us
monthly for our actual fixed and variable costs of production (excluding direct depreciation associated with machinery
and equipment used in the manufacturing of plasticizers), and the revenue associated with the reimbursement of these
costs is included in revenue and is matched against our costs as they are incurred.

Deferred revenue. Deferred credits are amortized over the life of the contracts which gave rise to them. As of
December 31, 2009, related to continuing operations, we had a balance in deferred income of approximately
$4.8 million, which represents certain payments received from our oxo-alcohol and PA operations, which previously
were part of our plasticizers business. The oxo alcohol payment was previously being amortized using the straight-line
method over an eight year life that ended on December 31, 2013, the original termination date of our Plasticizers
Production Agreement. As a result of BASF s election to terminate our Plasticizers Production Agreement, effective
December 31, 2010, the original eight year life was changed to five years and the remaining unamortized balance of
$3.6 million will be recognized in 2010. The PA payment is being amortized using the straight-line method over the
remaining life of our Plasticizers Production Agreement of one year, and the remaining unamortized balance of
$1.2 million will be recognized in 2010. In discontinued operations, as of December 31, 2009, we had a balance in
deferred income of approximately $35.4 million related to payments made to us under our exclusive styrene
production agreement with NOVA Chemicals Inc. which is being amortized using the straight-line method over the
contractual non-compete period of five years, of which approximately three years remain. Approximately
$12.4 million will be recognized in discontinued operations in 2010.

Debt Issue Costs

Debt issue costs relating to long-term debt are amortized over the term of the related debt instrument using the
straight-line method, which is materially consistent with the effective interest method, and are included in other assets.
Debt issue cost amortization, which is included in interest and debt-related expenses, was $1.1 million and
$1.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. As a result of our purchase of
$25.0 million aggregate principal amount of our 10 1/4% Senior Secured Notes due 2015, or our Secured Notes,
during the fourth quarter of 2009, we amortized $0.9 million of the debt issue costs related to our Secured Notes (See
Note 5).

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided for revenue and expenses which are recognized in different periods for income
tax and financial statement purposes. We regularly assess deferred tax assets for recoverability based on both
historical and anticipated earnings levels, and a valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that
these amounts will not be recovered. As a result of our analysis at December 31, 2009, we concluded that a valuation
allowance was needed against our deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2009, our valuation allowance was $28.2
million, a decrease of $3.2 million from December 31, 2008. The decrease included a valuation allowance adjustment
of $1.4 million related to our state taxes and credits and $0.9 million due to gains in other comprehensive income for
adjustments to our benefits plans. As of December 31, 2009, our overall net deferred tax asset/liability balance was
ZEero0.

Environmental Costs

Environmental costs are expensed as incurred, unless the expenditures extend the economic useful life of the

related assets. Costs that extend the economic useful life of assets are capitalized and depreciated over the
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remaining book life of those assets. Liabilities are recorded when environmental assessments or remedial efforts are
probable and the cost can be reasonably estimated.
Preferred Stock Dividends

We record preferred stock dividends on our Preferred Stock in our consolidated statements of operations based on
the estimated fair value of dividends at each dividend accrual date. Our Preferred Stock has a dividend rate of 4% per
quarter of the liquidation value of the outstanding shares of our Preferred Stock, and is payable in arrears in additional
shares of our Preferred Stock on the first business day of each calendar quarter. The liquidation value of each share of
our Preferred Stock is $13,793 per share, and each share of our Preferred Stock is convertible into shares of our
common stock (on a one to 1,000 share basis, subject to adjustment). The carrying value of our Preferred Stock in our
consolidated balance sheets represents the initial fair value at original issuance in 2002 plus the initial fair value of
each of the quarterly dividends paid since issuance. The fair value of our Preferred Stock dividends is determined each
quarter using valuation techniques that include a component representing the intrinsic value of the dividends (which
represent the greater of the liquidation value of the shares of Preferred Stock being issued or the fair value of the
common stock into which those shares could be converted) and an option component (which is determined using a
Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model). These dividends are subtracted from net income in our consolidated statements
of operations, and added to the balance of Redeemable Preferred Stock in our consolidated balance sheets. As we are
in an accumulated deficit position, these dividends are treated as a reduction to additional paid-in capital.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings per share, or EPS, is computed using the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the
year. Diluted EPS includes common stock equivalents, which are dilutive to earnings per share. For the years ending
December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, we had no dilutive securities outstanding due to all common stock
equivalents having an anti-dilutive effect during these periods.

Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments:

In preparing disclosures about the fair value of financial instruments, we have concluded that the carrying amount
approximates fair value for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and certain accrued
liabilities due to the short maturities of these instruments. The fair values of long-term debt instruments are estimated
based upon broker quotes for private transactions or on the current interest rates available to us for debt with similar
terms and remaining maturities.

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported periods. Significant estimates include impairment
considerations, allowance for doubtful accounts, inventory valuation, pension plan assumptions, preferred stock
dividend valuation, revenue recognition related to profit sharing accruals, environmental and litigation reserves and
provision and valuation allowance for income taxes.

2. Discontinued Operations

On September 17, 2007, we entered into a long-term exclusive styrene supply agreement and a related railcar
purchase and sale agreement with NOVA Chemicals Inc., or NOVA. Under this supply agreement, NOVA had the
exclusive right to purchase 100% of our styrene production (subject to existing contractual commitments), the amount
of styrene supplied in any particular period being at NOVA s option. In November 2007, this supply agreement, which
was subsequently assigned by NOVA to INEOS NOVA, LLC, or INEOS NOVA, received clearance under the
Hart-Scott-Rodino Act. This clearance caused the supply agreement and the railcar agreement to become effective and
triggered a $60 million payment to us from INEOS NOVA. In accordance with the terms of
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the supply agreement, INEOS NOVA assumed substantially all of our contractual obligations for future styrene
deliveries. After the supply agreement became effective, INEOS NOV A nominated zero pounds of styrene under the
supply agreement for the balance of 2007 and, in response, we exercised our right to terminate the supply agreement
and permanently shut down our styrene facility. Under the supply agreement, we were responsible for the closure
costs of our styrene facility and are also restricted from reentering the styrene business until November 2012. The
restricted period of time was initially through 2015. However, effective April 1, 2008, INEOS NOVA unilaterally
reduced the restricted period to five years.

We operated our styrene facility through early December 2007, as we completed our production of inventory and
exhausted our raw materials and purchase requirements. We sold substantially all of our remaining inventory during
the first quarter of 2008. The decommissioning process was completed by the end of 2008. $18.9 million of the
$19.6 million in costs associated with the decommissioning were incurred in 2008. In July 2008, we announced a
reduction in work force in order to reduce our staffing to a level appropriate for our existing operations and site
development projects. As a result, we reduced our salaried work force by 19 people and our hourly work force by 15
people and we recognized and paid $1.4 million of severance costs. Additionally, as a result of the work force
reduction, we recorded a curtailment loss of $1.2 million for our benefit plans in 2008.

As aresult of our styrene facility being permanently shut down, we have no significant continued involvement in
the styrene business and have, therefore, reported the operating results of this business as discontinued operations in
our condensed consolidated financial statements. The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities related to discontinued
operations as of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 were as follows:

December 31,
2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)
Assets of discontinued operations:
Accounts receivable, net $ 24 $ 166

Liabilities of discontinued operations: (1)

Liabilities of discontinued operations $ 12,384 $ 12,444
Long-term liabilities of discontinued operations 23,010 35,394
Total $ 35,394 $ 47,838
1) Asof

December 31,
2009, represents
deferred income
from the NOVA
supply
agreement that
is being
amortized over
the contractual
non-compete
period of five
years using the
straight-line
method.
Accrued
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liabilities

represents the

current portion

of $12.4

million, and

deferred credits

and other

liabilities

include the

long-term

portion of the

deferred income

of

$23.0 million.

Revenues and income (loss) before income taxes from discontinued operations for the years ended December 31,

2009 and December 31, 2008 are presented below:

Year ended December 31,

2009 2008

(Dollars in Thousands)
Revenues $ 12,382 $ 26,591
Income (loss) before income taxes 11,151 (8,366)
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3. Detail of Certain Balance Sheet Accounts

Inventories:
Raw materials

Stores and supplies (net of obsolescence reserve of $1,465 and $1,380, respectively)

Property, plant and equipment, net:
Land

Buildings

Plant and equipment

Construction in progress

Less: accumulated depreciation

Other assets, net:
Investments

Debt issuance costs
Other

Accrued liabilities:

Employee compensation and benefits
Deferred income

Interest payable

Property taxes

Advances from customers

Other

Deferred credits and other liabilities:

Accrued postretirement, pension and post employment benefits
Deferred income

Advances from customers

Other

Table of Contents

December 31,
2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

$ 1,276 $ 1,149
3,992 4,072
$ 5,268 $ 5,221
$ 7,149 $ 7,149
4,824 4,824
136,418 122,563

1,894 6,448

(82,103) (73,173)
$ 68,182 $ 67,811
$ 500 $ 511

4,629 6,015
631 712
$ 5,760 $ 7,838
$ 11,698 $ 4,885
5,583 2,965
3,868 4,368

1,401 2,193

1,000 3,572

866 2,025

$ 24,416 $ 20,008
$ 39,031 $ 51,319
5,165

1,000

2,053 1,619

$ 41,084 $ 59,103
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4. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Below is a summary of valuation and qualifying accounts for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008:

Continuing Operations
Allowance for doubtful accounts:

December 31,

2009

2008

(Dollars in Thousands)

Balance at beginning of year $ 18 $ 39
Add: bad debt expense (benefit) 40 5
Deduct: written-off accounts (16)
Balance at end of year $ 58 $ 18
Reserve for inventory obsolescence:
Balance at beginning of year $ 1,380 $ 1,472
Add: obsolescence accrual 256 36
Deduct: disposal of inventory (171) (128)
Balance at end of year $ 1,465 $ 1,380
Discontinued Operations
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Balance at beginning of year $ $
Add: bad debt expense (benefit) 24
Deduct: written-off accounts
Balance at end of year $ 24 $
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5. Long-Term Debt

On March 29, 2007, we completed a private offering of $150.0 million aggregate principal amount of our
unregistered Secured Notes pursuant to a Purchase Agreement among us, Sterling Chemicals Energy, Inc., or Sterling
Energy, one of our former wholly-owned subsidiaries, and Jefferies & Company, Inc. and CIBC World Markets
Corp., as initial purchasers. In connection with that offering, we entered into an indenture dated March 29, 2007
among us, Sterling Energy, as guarantor, and U. S. Bank National Association, as trustee and collateral agent. On
May 6, 2008, Sterling Energy was merged with and into us. Upon consummation of the merger, Sterling Energy no
longer had independent existence and, consequently, our Secured Notes are no longer guaranteed by Sterling Energy.
Pursuant to a registration rights agreement among us, Sterling Energy and the initial purchasers, we agreed to
exchange our unregistered Secured Notes for a new issue of substantially identical debt securities registered under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, to cause the registration statement for the exchange offer to
become effective by December 24, 2007, and to complete the exchange offer within 50 days of the effective date of
the registration statement. On August 30, 2007, we made an initial filing of the exchange offer registration statement.
However, the registration statement was not declared effective by December 24, 2007, and, as a result, the interest rate
on our Secured Notes increased by 0.25% per annum on each of December 25, 2007, March 24, 2008 and June 22,
2008. The registration statement was declared effective on August 13, 2008, and the exchange offer was closed on
September 19, 2008. As a result, the interest rate on our Secured Notes reverted back to the face amount of 10'/,% per
annum when the exchange offer closed. The additional interest incurred from December 25, 2007 through the closing
of the exchange offer was approximately $0.5 million and was paid on April 1, 2008 and October 1, 2008.

Our indenture contains affirmative and negative covenants and customary events of default, including payment
defaults, breaches of covenants and certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency and reorganization. If an event of default
occurs and is continuing, other than an event of default triggered upon certain bankruptcy events, the trustee under our
indenture or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of our outstanding Secured Notes may declare our
Secured Notes to be due and payable immediately. Upon an event of default, the trustee may also take actions to
foreclose on the collateral securing our outstanding Secured Notes. Our indenture does not require us to maintain any
financial ratios or satisfy any financial maintenance tests. We are currently in compliance with all of the covenants
contained in our indenture.

Interest is due on our outstanding Secured Notes on April 1 and October 1 of each year. Our outstanding Secured
Notes, which mature on April 1, 2015, are senior secured obligations and rank equally in right of payment with all of
our existing and future senior indebtedness. Subject to specified permitted liens, our outstanding Secured Notes are
secured (i) on a first priority basis by all of our fixed assets and certain related assets, including, without limitation, all
of our property, plant and equipment and (ii) on a second priority basis by our other assets, including, without
limitation, accounts receivable, inventory, capital stock of our domestic restricted subsidiaries, intellectual property,
deposit accounts and investment property.

In the fourth quarter of 2009, we purchased $25.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our Secured Notes for
$23.8 million in cash in the open market resulting in a $1.2 million gain. This gain was partially offset by the
amortization of a pro rata portion of the related debt issue costs of $0.9 million. In February 2010, we repurchased an
additional $2.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our Secured Notes for $1.9 million, and in the first quarter of
2010, we will amortize less than $0.1 million for the pro rata portion of the related debt issue costs.

On December 19, 2002, we entered into a Revolving Credit Agreement, or our revolving credit facility, with The
CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc, or CIT as administrative agent and a lender, and certain other lenders. Under our
revolving credit facility, we and Sterling Energy were co-borrowers and were jointly and severally liable for any
indebtedness thereunder. After the merger of Sterling Energy with and into us, Sterling Energy ceased to be a
co-borrower under our revolving credit facility. Our revolving credit facility was secured by first priority liens on all
of our accounts receivable, inventory and other specified assets. On March 29, 2007, we amended and restated our
revolving credit facility to, among other things, extend the term of our revolving credit facility until March 29, 2012,
reduce the maximum commitment thereunder to $50.0 million, make certain changes to the calculation of the
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borrowing base and lower the interest rates and fees charged thereunder. In response to the expected continued lower
levels of accounts receivable and inventory, as well as our lesser need for a working capital facility, we reduced our
commitment under our revolving credit facility to $25.0 million on June 30, 2008. On November 7, 2008, we further
amended our revolving credit facility to substantially reduce restrictions, subject to minimum liquidity requirements,
on investment of cash and other assets, payment of cash dividends, repurchase of debt and equity securities,
modification of preferred stock terms, entry into affiliated transactions, disposition of assets and engagement in certain
business activities. We paid the administrative agent an amendment fee plus expenses totaling approximately

$0.1 million in connection with this amendment. On December 10, 2009, we elected to terminate our revolving credit
facility effective January 24, 2010 due to our substantial cash reserves and low working capital needs. There were no
penalties or termination fees payable by us in connection with the early termination of our revolving credit facility.
The remaining associated debt issue costs of $0.2 million will be written off as of the effective termination date.

As of December 31, 2009, total credit available under our revolving credit facility was limited to $7.5 million,
there were no loans outstanding and we had $3.5 million in letters of credit outstanding, resulting in borrowing
availability of $4.0 million. As our revolving credit facility included both a subjective acceleration clause and a
lock-box arrangement, any balances outstanding under our revolving credit facility would have been classified as a
current portion of long-term debt.

On January 31, 2010, we entered into a $5 million Revolving Line of Credit for letters of credit, or our LC Facility,
with JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. or Chase, for the issuance of commercial and standby letters of credit. Our LC
Facility will expire January 31, 2014, and letters of credit issued under this facility bear an annual fee of 1%. On
January 31, 2010, we also entered into an Assignment of Deposit Account Agreement with Chase providing collateral
for the LC facility with a $5 million deposit account. As of February 28, 2010, there were $3.3 million in standby
letters of credit issued under the LC facility.

Debt Maturities

Our Secured Notes, which had an aggregate principal balance of $125.0 million outstanding as of December 31,

2009, are due on April 1, 2015.
6. Income Taxes
A reconciliation of federal statutory income taxes to our effective tax benefit is as follows:

Year Ended December
31,
2009 2008

(Dollars in Thousands)
Benefit for income taxes at statutory rates $ (4,650) $ 113)
Non-deductible expenses 11 19
State income taxes
Change in valuation allowance 4,041 29
Limitation on tax benefit of continuing operations (4,650)
Other (6)
Effective tax benefit $ (5,248) $ (71)

The income tax benefit for continuing operations and all other components is shown below:

Year Ended December
31,
2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)
Tax benefit continuing operations $ (5,248) $ (71)
Tax expense all other components 4,650
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The income tax benefit in continuing operations is composed of the following:

Year Ended December
31,
2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)
Current federal $  (59%) $ (71)
Deferred federal (4,650)
Current and deferred state
Total tax benefit $ (5,248) $ (71)

The components of our deferred income tax assets and liabilities are summarized below:

December 31,
2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)
Deferred tax assets:

Accrued liabilities $ 1,985 $ 1,163
Accrued postretirement cost 1,144 1,048
Accrued pension cost 12,145 14,096
Tax loss and credit carry forwards 22,511 25,319
State deferred taxes 64 185
Unearned revenue 1,658 2,566
Other 940 670
Subtotal $ 40,447 $ 45,047
Less: valuation allowance $(28,244) $(31,451)
Total deferred tax assets $ 12,203 $ 13,596

Deferred tax liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment $(12,203) $(13,596)
Total deferred tax liabilities $(12,203) $(13,596)
Net deferred tax assets $ $

As of December 31, 2009, we had an available U.S. federal income tax net operating loss, or NOL, of
approximately $94.8 million, which expires during the years 2023 through 2029. Under the provisions of the revised
Texas Franchise Tax, our existing State of Texas net operating loss carry-forwards, or State NOLs, were converted
into state tax temporary credits. As of December 31, 2009, we had state tax temporary credits of $4.5 million and state
carry-forward investment tax credits of $0.1 million resulting in a state valuation allowance of $1.4 million. As of
December 31, 2008, we had state tax temporary credits of $4.6 million and state carry-forward investment tax credits
of $0.3 million resulting in a state valuation allowance of $2.7 million. The $1.3 million change in our state valuation
allowance was due to expired or utilized state tax credits and current year activity.
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We regularly assess our deferred tax assets for recoverability based on both historical and anticipated earnings
levels, and a valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that these amounts will not be recovered.
As a result of our analysis at December 31, 2009, we concluded that a valuation allowance was needed against our
deferred tax assets for $28.2 million, including a valuation allowance of $13.7 million for cumulative losses in other
comprehensive income due to adjustments to our benefit plans, resulting in an overall net deferred tax asset/liability
balance of zero as of December 31, 2009.

At January 1, 2008, we had a $3.7 million contingent tax liability relating to tax positions taken in previous tax
returns. We concluded that these deductions do not meet the more likely than not recognition threshold. Our
accounting policy is to recognize any accrued interest or penalties associated with unrecognized tax benefits as a
component of income tax expense. Due to significant net operating losses incurred during the tax periods associated
with our uncertain tax positions, no amount for penalties or interest has been recorded in our financial statements.
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We do not believe the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will change significantly within the next twelve
months. In addition, future changes in the unrecognized tax benefit will have no impact on the effective tax rate due to
the existence of the valuation allowance. As of December 31, 2009, there were no changes to our uncertain tax
positions.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):

Balance, January 1, 2008 $ 3,685
Additions for tax positions of the current year
Additions for tax positions of prior years 18

Reductions for tax positions of prior years for
Changes in judgment

Settlements during the period

Lapses of applicable statute of limitation

Balance, December 31, 2008 $ 3,703

Balance, January 1, 2009 $ 3,703
Additions for tax positions of the current year

Additions for tax positions of prior years

Reductions for tax positions of prior years for

Changes in judgment

Settlements during the period

Lapses of applicable statute of limitation

Balance, December 31, 2009 $ 3,703

We file income tax returns in the United States federal jurisdiction and file income and franchise tax returns in the
State of Texas. We remain subject to federal examination for tax years ended December 31, 2003 and subsequent
years, and we remain subject to examination by the State of Texas for tax years ended December 31, 2005 and
subsequent years.

7. Employee Benefits

We have established the following benefit plans:
Retirement Benefit Plans

We have non-contributory pension plans which cover our salaried and hourly wage employees who were employed
by us on or before June 1, 2004. Under our hourly plan, the benefits are based primarily on years of service and an
employee s pay as of the earlier of the employee s retirement or July 1, 2007. Under our salaried plan, the benefits are
based primarily on years of service and an employee s pay as of the earlier of the employee s retirement or January 1,
2005. Our funding policy is consistent with the funding requirements of federal law and regulations.

Pension plan assets are invested in a balanced portfolio managed by an outside investment manager. Our benefits
plans committee has established an investment policy detailing the plans guidelines and investment strategies, and
regularly monitors the performance of the funds and portfolio managers. Our investment guidelines address the
following items: governance, general investment beliefs and principles, investment objectives, specific investment
goals, process for determining and maintaining the asset allocation policy, long-term asset allocation, rebalancing,
investment restrictions and prohibited transactions (the use of derivatives and the use of leverage as types of
investments are generally prohibited), portfolio manager structure and diversification (which addresses limits on the
amount of investments held by any one manager to minimize risk), portfolio manager selection criteria, plan
evaluation, portfolio manager performance review and evaluation, and risk management (including various measures
used to evaluate risk tolerance). Pension plan assets are invested as follows:

Table of Contents 66



Edgar Filing: Patient Safety Technologies, Inc - Form S-3/A
52

Table of Contents

67



Edgar Filing: Patient Safety Technologies, Inc - Form S-3/A

Table of Contents

As of December 31,

2009 2008
Equities 61.4% 56.0%
Bonds 35.6% 30.0%
Other 3.0% 14.0%
Total 100.0% 100.0%

Our investment strategy with respect to pension assets is to invest the assets in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations. The long-term primary objectives for our pension assets are to: (1) provide for a reasonable amount of
long-term growth of capital, with prudent exposure to risk; and protect the assets from erosion of purchasing power;
(2) provide investment results that meet or exceed the plans actuarially assumed long-term rate of return; and
(3) move to matching the duration of the liabilities and assets of the plans to reduce the potential risk of large
employer contributions being necessary in the future. The plans strive to meet these objectives by employing a
consultant to advise the benefits plans committee on plans investments, portfolio managers to manage assets within
the guidelines and strategies set forth by the benefits plans committee. Performance of these managers is compared to
applicable benchmarks.

Information concerning the pension obligation, plan assets, amounts recognized in our financial statements and
underlying actuarial assumptions is stated below:

December 31,
2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

Change in projected benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 121,167 $ 123,165
Interest cost 7,191 7,188
Actuarial loss (gain) 4,628 (1,575)
Curtailment loss 907
Benefits paid (8,731) (8,518)
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 124,255 $ 121,167

December 31,
2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

Change in plan assets:

Fair value at beginning of year $ 77,807 $118,383
Actual return on plan assets 17,483 (35,247)
Employer contributions 213 3,189
Benefits paid (8,731) (8,518)
Fair value at end of year 86,772 77,807
Funded status $(37,483) $ (43,360)
December 31,
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Amounts recognized in the balance sheet consist of:
Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Net amount recognized in financial position

Amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss consists of (pre-tax):

Net loss

Net amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss (1)

€]

$1.9 million of
actuarial loss in
accumulated
other
comprehensive
loss as of
December 31,
2009 is
expected to be
recognized as a
component of
net pension
costs during
2010. $10.1
million of
actuarial gain
was recognized
in other
comprehensive
income during
2009.
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2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

$ (6,299 $ (212)
(31,184) (43,148)

$(37,483) $(43,360)
December 31,
2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

$(28,022) $(38,098)

$(28,022) $(38,098)
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December 31,
2009 2008
Weighted-average assumptions to determine benefit obligations:
Discount Rate 5.75% 6.25%
Rates of increase in salary compensation level

All plans have projected benefit obligations in excess of plan assets as of December 31, 2009. The total
accumulated benefit obligation was $124.3 million and $121.2 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. Contributions expected to be paid in 2010 are estimated to be approximately $6.3 million. The expected
pension expense for 2010 is $4.Imillion.

During the third quarter of 2008, as a result of our work force reduction announced in July 2008, and in accordance
with ASC Topic 715 Compensation Retirement Benefits , or ASC Topic 715, we recorded plan curtailment losses in
discontinued operations of $0.9 million for our defined benefit pension plans.

Net periodic pension costs (benefit) consist of the following components:

Year Ended December 31,
2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)
Components of net pension costs (benefit):

Interest on prior year s projected benefit obligation 7,191 7,188
Expected return on plan assets (5,613) (8,352)
Net amortization of actuarial loss 2,832 31
Curtailment loss 907
Net pension costs (benefit) $ 4,410 $ (226)

December 31,
2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)
Changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive loss (pre-tax):
Net loss $(28,022) $(38,098)

Total $(28,022) $(38,098)

December 31,
2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)
Weighted-average assumptions to determine net periodic benefit cost:

Discount Rate 6.25% 6.00%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.50% 7.50%
A discount rate is used to determine the present value of our future benefit obligations. The discount rate for our
pension plans was determined by matching the expected cash flows to a yield curve based on long-term, high quality

fixed income debt instruments available as of the measurement date.
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The assumption for expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for our pension plans was developed using a
long-term projection of returns for each asset class, and taking into consideration our target asset allocation. The
expected return for each asset class is a function of passive, long-term capital market assumptions and excess returns
generated from active management. The capital market assumptions used are provided by independent investment
advisors, while excess return assumptions are supported by historical performance, fund mandates and investment
expectations. In addition, we compare the expected return on asset assumption with the average historical rate of
return these plans have been able to generate.

The fair values of our pension benefit plan assets by asset category as of December 31, 2009 are presented below
(in thousands), as well as the percentage that each category comprises of our total plan assets and the respective target
allocations.

Percentage
of Target
Level Total Plan Allocation
Level 1 2 Level 3 Assets Assets 2010
Asset Category:
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 2,611 $ $ $ 2,611 3% 0-10%
Mutual Funds
International 13,562 13,562 16% 10-20%
Large-Cap Value 13,966 13,966 16% 10-20%
Small-Cap Growth 2,570 2,570 3% 0-5%
Emerging Markets 4,444 4,444 5% 0-10%
Mid-Cap Growth 1,818 1,818 2% 0-5%
All Cap 11,159 11,159 13% 10-15%
Small-Cap Value 3,536 3,536 4% 0-5%
Mid-Cap Value 2,224 2,224 2% 0-5%
Intermediate Fixed
Income/Core 20,738 20,738 24% 20-40%
Long Duration Fixed
Income 2,519 2,519 3% 0-15%
Total Mutual Funds 76,536 76,536 88%
Guaranteed Deposit
Account 7,625 7,625 9% 0%
Total Plan Assets $79,147 $ $ 7,625 $ 86,772 100%

Pension assets utilizing Level 1 inputs include fair values of the mutual fund securities that were determined by
closing prices for those securities traded on national stock exchanges.

The estimated fair value for the Guaranteed Deposit Account is based on unobservable inputs that are not
corroborated by observable market data and are thus classified as Level 3. This Guaranteed Deposit Account is a
group annuity product offered by our prior investment manager. In January 2010, $7.6 million was transferred from
the Guaranteed Deposit Account into mutual funds to be managed by our new investment manager.

A reconciliation of the 2009 beginning and ending fair value balances for our Guaranteed Deposit Account is as
follows:

Fair value as of December 31, 2008 $ 7,798
Transfers 8,328
Disbursements (8,643)
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Return on plan assets 142
Fair value as of December 31, 2009 $7,625

The return on plan assets refers to income from assets held as of December 31, 2009.
Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions

We provide certain health care benefits and life insurance benefits for retired employees. We accrue the cost of
these benefits during the period in which the employee renders the necessary service.

Health care benefits are currently provided to employees hired prior to June 1, 2004 who retire from us with ten or
more years of credited service. Some of our employees are eligible for postretirement life insurance, depending on
their hire date. Postretirement health care benefit plans are contributory. Benefit provisions for most hourly employees
are subject to collective bargaining. In general, retiree health care benefits are paid as covered expenses are incurred.

During the third quarter of 2007, we approved an amendment (effective December 31, 2007) to our postretirement
medical plan which ended Medicare-supplemental medical and prescription drug coverage for retirees who are
Medicare eligible. This amendment, which was communicated to the participants during the third
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quarter of 2007, affects the majority of the participants currently enrolled in our retiree medical plan who are enrolled
in Medicare because they are 65 or over. This plan amendment reduced our other postretirement benefit plan liability
by $13.0 million with a corresponding change to accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income.

During the third quarter of 2008, as result of our work force reduction announced in July 2008, we recorded plan
curtailment losses in discontinued operations of $0.3 million for our post retirement medical plan.

On December 8§, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003, or the Act,
was passed. The Act introduced a prescription drug benefit under Medicare (Medicare Part D), as well as a federal
subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to
Medicare Part D. We measured the effects of the Act on our accumulated postretirement benefit obligation and
determined that, based on the regulatory guidance currently available, benefits provided by our postretirement plan are
at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D, and accordingly, we expect to be entitled to the federal subsidy
through 2010. In 2009, we received a subsidy of less than $0.1 million under the Act.

Information concerning the plan obligation, the funded status, amounts recognized in our financial statements and
underlying actuarial assumptions are stated below:

December 31,
2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)
Change in projected benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 8,144 $ 11,019
Service cost 45 55
Interest cost 484 575
Actuarial gain (368) (2,518)
Curtailment loss 290
Benefits paid (701) (1,277)
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 7,604 $ 8,144
Funded status $ (7,604) $ (8,144)
December 31,
2009 2008

(Dollars in Thousands)
Amounts recognized in the balance sheet consist of:

Current liabilities $ (690) $ (789)
Non-current liabilities (6,914) (7,355)
Net amount recognized in financial position $ (7,604) $ (8,144)
December 31,
2009 2008

(Dollars in Thousands)
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income consists of

(pre-tax):
Net gain $ 760 $ 391
Plan amendment/prior service costs 20,520 22,686
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Net amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income $ 21,280 $ 23,077
Year Ended December
31,
2009 2008
Discount rate used to determine benefit obligations 5.25% 6.25%
Net periodic plan costs consist of the following components:
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Year Ended December 31,
2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)
Components of net plan costs:

Service cost $ 45 $ 55
Interest cost 484 575
Net amortization:
Prior service costs (2,164) (2,165)
Net plan benefit $ (1,635) $ (1,535
Discount rate used to determine periodic cost 6.25% 6.00%
December 31,
2009 2008

(Dollars in Thousands)
Changes in benefit obligations recognized in accumulated other comprehensive (loss)
income (pre-tax):

Net gain $ 368 $ 2,519
Amortization of prior service cost (2,164) (2,165)
Total $ (1,796) $ 354

The weighted-average annual assumed health care trend rate is assumed to be 9% for 2010. The rate is assumed to
decrease gradually to 4.5% by 2017 and remain level thereafter. Estimated benefit payments for 2010 are expected to
be approximately $0.7 million. The expected amortization of amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive
income as of December 31, 2009 to net benefit income for 2010 is $2.2 million. Based on enacted plan changes,
assumed health care cost trend rates no longer have a significant effect on the amounts reported for our health care
plans. A one percentage point change in assumed health care trend rates would have the following effects:

1% 1%
Increase Decrease
(Dollars in Thousands)
Effect on total of service and interest cost components $ 19 $ (17
Effect on post-retirement benefit obligation 356 (319)

Estimated Future Benefits Payable
We estimate that the future benefits payable over the next ten years under our pension and other post-retirement
benefits as of December 31, 2009 are as follows (in thousands):

Other
Pensions- Pensions- Pensions- Postretirement
hourly salaried other Benefits Total
2010 $ 3474 $ 5,174 $ 209 $ 690 $ 9,547
2011 3,345 5,203 203 687 9,438
2012 3,293 5,259 196 719 9,467
2013 3,294 5,219 188 735 9,436
2014 3,222 5,195 181 739 9,337
2015-2019 16,273 26,839 779 3,510 47,401
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Long-term Incentive Plan
On August 7, 2009, our Board of Directors adopted our Long-Term Incentive Plan, or our LTI Plan. Our LTI Plan
provides for the issuance of performance awards to our Chief Executive Officer and President, our Senior Vice
Presidents and other key employees. The purpose of our LTI Plan is to provide an incentive to our executive
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officers and other designated employees to contribute to our growth and profitability, to increase stockholder value
and to retain such employees. Performance awards under our LTI Plan may be payable in the form of cash or other
property, and are payable upon the satisfaction of pre-determined performance goals over performance periods;
provided that, with some exceptions, the recipient remains employed by us on the last day of the performance period
for which such recipient is receiving the award. We expensed $0.2 million in 2009 for the LTI Plan.

Bonus Plan and Gain Sharing Plan

In February 2002, our Board of Directors, upon recommendation of its Compensation Committee, approved the
establishment of a Bonus Plan and a Gain Sharing Plan. The Bonus Plan, which has been amended several times since
its original adoption, is designed to benefit all qualified salaried employees, while the Gain Sharing Plan is designed
to benefit all qualified hourly employees. Both plans provide our qualified employees the opportunity to earn bonuses
depending on, among other things, our annual financial performance. We expensed $2.1 million and $1.2 million for
the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, in connection with payments under our Bonus Plan and
our Gain Sharing Plan.

Key Employee Protection Plan

On January 26, 2000, we instituted our Key Employee Protection Plan, which has subsequently been amended
several times. We established this plan to help us retain certain of our employees and motivate them to continue to
exert their best efforts on our behalf during periods when we may be susceptible to a change of control, and to assure
their continued dedication and objectivity during those periods. Our Compensation Committee has designated a select
group of management or highly compensated employees as participants under our Key Employee Protection Plan, and
has established their respective applicable multipliers and other variables for determining benefits. Our Compensation
Committee is also authorized to designate additional management or highly compensated employees as participants
under our Key Employee Protection Plan and set their applicable multipliers. Our Compensation Committee may also
terminate any participant s participation under the plan with 60 days prior notice if it determines that the participant is
no longer one of our key employees.

Under our Key Employee Protection Plan, any participant under the plan that terminates his or her employment for

Good Reason or is terminated by us for any reason other than Misconduct or Disability within his or her Protection
Period is entitled to benefits under the plan. A participant s Protection Period commences 180 days prior to the date on
which a specified change of control occurs and ends either two years or 18 months after the date of that change of
control, depending on the size of the participant s applicable multiplier. A participant may also be entitled to receive
payments under this plan in the absence of a change of control if he or she terminates his or her employment for Good
Reason or is terminated by us for any reason other than Misconduct or Disability, but in these circumstances his or her
applicable multiplier is reduced by 50%. If a participant becomes entitled to benefits under our Key Employee
Protection Plan, we are required to provide the participant with a lump sum cash payment that is determined by
multiplying the participant s applicable multiplier by (a) the sum of the participant s highest annual base compensation
during the last three years plus (b) the participant s targeted bonus for the year of termination, and then deducting the
sum of any other separation, severance or termination payments made by us to the participant under any other plan or
agreement or pursuant to law.

In addition to the lump sum payment, the participant is entitled to receive any accrued but unpaid compensation,
compensation for unused vacation time and any unpaid vested benefits earned or accrued under any of our benefit
plans (other than qualified plans). Also, for a period of 24 months (including 18 months of COBRA coverage), the
participant will continue to be covered by all of our life, medical and dental insurance plans and programs (other than
disability), as long as the participant makes a timely COBRA election and pays the active employee premiums
required under our plans and programs and by COBRA. In addition, our obligation to continue to provide coverage
under our plans and programs to any participant ends if and when the participant becomes employed on a full-time
basis by a third party which provides the participant with substantially similar benefits.

If any payment or distribution under our Key Employee Protection Plan to any participant is subject to excise tax
pursuant to Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code, the participant is entitled to receive a gross-up payment from
us in an amount such that, after payment by the participant of all taxes on the gross-up payment, the amount of the
gross-up payment remaining is equal to the excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code.
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annual base compensation during the last three years plus (b) the participant s targeted bonus for the year of payment.

We may terminate our Key Employee Protection Plan at any time and for any reason but any termination does not
become effective as to any participant until 90 days after we give the participant notice of the termination of the plan.
In addition, we may amend our Key Employee Protection Plan at any time and for any reason, but any amendment
that reduces, alters, suspends, impairs or prejudices the rights or benefits of any participant in any material respect
does not become effective as to that participant until 90 days after we give him or her notice of the amendment of the
plan. No termination of our Key Employee Protection Plan, or any of these types of amendments to the plan, can be
effective with respect to any participant if the termination or amendment is related to, in anticipation of or during the
pendency of a change of control, is for the purpose of encouraging or facilitating a change of control or is made within
180 days prior to any change of control. Finally, no termination or amendment of our Key Employee Protection Plan
can affect the rights or benefits of any participant that are accrued under the plan at the time of termination or
amendment or that accrue thereafter on account of a change of control that occurred prior to the termination or
amendment or within 180 days after such termination or amendment. We expensed $0.3 million and zero in 2009 and
2008, respectively, pursuant to this plan.

Severance Pay Plan

On March 8, 2001, our Board of Directors approved our Severance Pay Plan, which has subsequently been
amended. This plan covers all of our non-unionized employees and was established to help us retain these employees
by assuring them that they will receive some compensation in the event that their employment is adversely affected in
specified ways. Under our Severance Pay Plan, any participant that terminates his or her employment for Good
Reason or is terminated by us for any reason other than Misconduct or Disability is entitled to benefits under our
Severance Pay Plan. If a participant becomes entitled to benefits under our Severance Pay Plan, we are required to
provide the participant with a lump sum cash payment in an amount equivalent to two weeks of such participant s base
salary for each credited year of service, with a maximum payment of one year s base salary. However, certain salary
grades are guaranteed a minimum payment of six month s base salary without consideration of credited years of
service. The amount of this lump sum payment is reduced, however, by the amount of any other separation, severance
or termination payments made by us to the participant under any other plan or agreement, including our Key
Employee Protection Plan, or pursuant to law.

In addition to the lump sum payment, for a period of six months after the participant s termination date, the
COBRA premium required to be paid by such participant for coverage under our medical and dental plans may not be
increased beyond that required to be paid by active employees for similar coverage under those plans, as long as the
participant makes a timely COBRA election and pays the active employee premiums required under those plans and
otherwise continues to be eligible for coverage under those plans.

We may terminate or amend our Severance Pay Plan at any time and for any reason but no termination or
amendment of our Severance Pay Plan can affect the rights or benefits of any participant that are accrued under the
plan at the time of termination or amendment. With respect to continuing operations, we recorded zero expense in
2009 and 2008.

Savings and Investment Plan

Our Eighth Amended and Restated Savings and Investment Plan covers substantially all employees, including
executive officers. This plan is qualified under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Each participant has the
option to defer taxation of a portion of his or her earnings by directing us to contribute a percentage of such earnings
to the plan. A participant may direct up to a maximum of 100% of eligible earnings to the plan, subject to certain
limitations set forth in the Internal Revenue Code. A participant s contributions become distributable upon the
termination of his or her employment. We match 100% of employees contributions; to the extent such contributions
do not exceed 6% of such participant s base compensation (excluding bonuses, profit sharing and similar types of
compensation). Our expense under this plan was $0.9 million and $1.0 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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Employment Agreement

Effective as of May 27, 2008, John V. Genova was appointed as our President and Chief Executive Officer and
was elected as a member of our Board of Directors. Mr. Genova s employment as our President and Chief Executive
Officer is governed by an Employment Agreement, or the Employment Agreement, dated effective as of May 27,
2008, which was subsequently amended. The Employment Agreement has a term of three years with automatic
one-year extensions each year unless we or he elect to stop the automatic extensions. The Employment Agreement
governs Mr. Genova s base salary, bonus, incentive plan and other employee benefits as well as severance benefits if
his employment is terminated in specified ways for specified reasons. In addition, when Mr. Genova signed the
Employment Agreement, we granted Mr. Genova options to acquire 120,000 shares of our common stock at an
exercise price of $31.60 per share. These options, which were granted under our 2002 Stock Plan, have a ten-year
term and will vest and become exercisable in three equal, annual installments, with the first installment vesting and
becoming exercisable on May 27, 2009 (subject to Mr. Genova s continued employment with us on each applicable
vesting date).
8. Stock-Based Compensation

On December 19, 2002, we adopted our 2002 Stock Plan and reserved 379,747 shares of our common stock for
issuance under the plan (subject to adjustment), which has since been amended, or our 2002 Stock Plan. On
December 5, 2008, the Compensation Committee of our Board adopted our Second Amended and Restated 2002
Stock Plan and it became effective upon approval by the stockholders during our Annual Meeting of Stockholders
held on April 30, 2009. Upon approval by our stockholders, an additional one million shares of our common stock
became available for issuance under our 2002 Stock Plan and we reserved an additional one million shares of our
common stock for this purpose. Under our 2002 Stock Plan, officers and key employees, as designated by our Board
of Directors, may be issued stock options, stock awards, stock appreciation rights or stock units. There are currently
options to purchase a total of 224,167 shares of our common stock outstanding under our 2002 Stock Plan, with a
weighted average contractual term of ten years, all at an exercise price of $31.60, and an additional 1,139,747 shares
of common stock available for issuance under our 2002 Stock Plan. The decrease in compensation expense in 2009 is
due to an increase in our estimated forfeiture rate to 38% in 2009 compared to 5% in 2008. The increase in the
estimated forfeiture rate resulted from increased forfeitures of stock options in 2009 and resulted in a cumulative
adjustment of $0.2 million in 2009.

During the second quarter of 2008, we granted 125,000 stock options at a weighted-average exercise price of
$31.60. The fair value of each grant was estimated to be $7.25 on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

2008
Expected life (years) 7.5
Expected volatility 54.3%
Expected dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate 3.5%

The cost of employee services received in exchange for a stock-based award is determined based on the grant-date
fair value (with exceptions). That cost is then recognized over the period during which the employee is required to
provide services in exchange for the award (usually the vesting period).

Any awards granted under our 2002 Stock Plan after December 31, 2005 are being expensed over the vesting
period of the award. The impact to net income and cash flows from operations for our stock based compensation
expense was $0.1 million and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008,
respectively.

A summary of our stock option activity for 2009 is presented below:
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Weighted-AveragdVeighted-Average Aggregate

Exercise Remaining Intrinsic
Contractual
Shares Price Term Value
Outstanding at beginning of year 347,500 $ 31.60
Forfeited (123,333) 31.60
Outstanding at end of year 224,167 $ 31.60 5.6 years $
Options exercisable at end of year 144,167 2.6 years $

A summary of our unvested stock options as of December 31, 2009, and the changes during the year then ended is
presented below:

Weighted-Average
Outstanding Grant-Date Fair

Shares Value
Unvested as of December 31, 2008 125,000 $
Vested (41,667) 7.25
Forfeited (3,333) 5.76
Unvested as of December 31, 2009 80,000 $ 7.31

The total fair value of options that vested during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was $0.3 million
and zero, respectively. As of December 31, 2009, there was $0.1 million of total future compensation expense related
to unvested options which are expected to vest. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period
of 1.4 years.

9. Commitments and Contingencies
Product Contracts:

We have long-term agreements which provide for the dedication of 100% of our production of acetic acid and
plasticizers, each to one customer. See Note 11 for more information.
Environmental Regulations:

Our operating expenditures for environmental matters, primarily waste management and compliance, were
$14.5 million and $15.9 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively. During 2009 and 2008, we spent $1.8 million and
$1.1 million, respectively, for environmentally-related capital projects and anticipate spending approximately
$0.3 million for capital projects related to waste management, incident prevention and environmental compliance
during 2010.

On December 13, 2007, the Texas Commission for Environmental Quality, or the TCEQ, issued an agreed order
requiring us to remove all process wastewater from a holding pond at our Texas City facility in order to prevent
discharges during heavy rain events. In order to comply with this agreed order, we implemented a capital project at a
total cost to us of $2.8 million, which represented the majority of our environmentally-related capital projects in 2008
and 2009.

Legal Proceedings:

On July 5, 2005, Patrick B. McCarthy, an employee of Kinder-Morgan, Inc., or Kinder-Morgan, was seriously
injured at Kinder-Morgan s facilities near Cincinnati, Ohio, while attempting to offload a railcar containing one of our
plasticizers products. On October 28, 2005, Mr. McCarthy and his family filed a suit in the Court of Common Pleas,
Hamilton County, Ohio (Case No. A0509 144) against us and six other defendants. During the case, five of the other
defendants were dismissed. The plaintiffs sought in excess of $42 million in alleged compensatory and punitive
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damages from the defendants in the aggregate. On May 7, 2009, the jury found that we had not been negligent in
connection with the incident and rendered a take nothing verdict in favor of the defendants. On June 24, 2009, the
plaintiffs filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or, in the alternative, a new trial. On September 4,
2009, the Court denied plaintiffs motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, but granted
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plaintiffs motion for a new trial. We and the other remaining defendant timely filed notices of appeal of that order, as
well as other orders issued during the trial. We believe that all, or substantially all, of any liability imposed upon us as
a result of this suit and our related out-of-pocket costs and expenses will be covered by our insurance policies, subject
to a one million deductible, which was met in January 2008. We do not believe that this incident will have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows, although we cannot guarantee
that a material adverse effect will not occur.

On February 21, 2007, we, several of our benefit plans and the plan administrators for those plans were sued in a
class action suit, Case No. H-07-0625 filed in the United States District Court, Southern District of Texas, Houston
Division. The plaintiffs are seeking to represent a proposed class of retired employees of Sterling Fibers, Inc., one of
our former subsidiaries that we sold in connection with our emergence from bankruptcy in 2002. The plaintiffs are
alleging that we were not permitted to increase their premiums for retiree medical insurance based on a provision
contained in the asset purchase agreement between us and Cytec Industries Inc. and certain of its affiliates governing
our purchase of our former acrylic fibers business in 1997. During our bankruptcy case, we specifically rejected this
asset purchase agreement and the bankruptcy court approved that rejection. The plaintiffs are claiming that we
violated the terms of the benefit plans and breached fiduciary duties governed by the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act and are seeking damages, declaratory relief, punitive damages and attorneys fees. A trial for this matter
was held during the second week of November 2009 but the court has not yet as issued a ruling. We are vigorously
defending this action and are unable to state at this time if a loss is probable or remote and are unable to determine the
possible range of loss related to this matter, if any.

On February 4, 2008, we filed a Petition for Declaratory Judgment in the 212th District Court of Galveston
County, Texas (Case No. 08CV0108) against Marathon Petroleum Company LLC, or Marathon, in connection with a
dispute between Marathon and us under a Purchase Agreement for FCC Off-Gas, or the Off-Gas Purchase Agreement.
Under the Off-Gas Purchase Agreement, we purchase an amount of off-gas each month from Marathon within a stated
range at Marathon s option. Following the closure of certain production units at our Texas City facility, our demand for
off-gas has been below the low-end of the stated range. On July 31, 2007, and again on November 19, 2007, we
invoked the undue economic hardship clause of the Off-Gas Purchase Agreement and requested that Marathon enter
into good faith negotiations to modify its terms. After Marathon disputed the applicability of the economic hardship
provision and refused to renegotiate the terms of the Off-Gas Purchase Agreement, we filed a declaratory judgment
action to enforce the terms of the economic hardship provision, and Marathon filed a counter-claim against us for
breach of contract. Marathon contended that Sterling s failure to take the minimum contract quantities has resulted in
damages in the past, which will continue in the future through the end of the term of the Off-Gas Purchase Agreement
on April 30, 2011. On February 26, 2010, we and Marathon entered into a confidential settlement agreement with
respect to this matter. We do not believe that this matter will have a material adverse impact on our business, financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows, although a material adverse effect could occur.

We are subject to various other claims and legal actions that arise in the ordinary course of our business. We do not
believe that any of these claims and actions, separately or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows, although we cannot guarantee that a material adverse
effect will not occur.

As of December 31, 2008, we had a receivable of $1.3 million due from our insurance carriers for reimbursement
of legal costs that exceeded our insurance deductibles and were, therefore, reimbursable through our insurance
carriers. For the year ended December 31, 2009, we incurred $2.1 million of legal costs that are reimbursable under
our insurance policies and received $3.3 million of payments from our insurance carriers, resulting in a receivable
balance of $0.1 million as of December 31, 2009.

10. Leasing Arrangements

Certain of our contractual arrangements with customers and suppliers qualify as leasing arrangements. These
leasing arrangements consist principally of our Acetic Acid Production Agreement with BP Chemicals, our
Plasticizers Production Agreement with BASF and a supply agreement with Praxair related to the purchase of
hydrogen and carbon monoxide. In the fourth quarter of 2009, BASF elected to terminate our Plasticizers
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Production Agreement, effective December 31, 2010. The Acetic Acid Production Agreement expires in 22 years and
the Praxair Agreement expires in 7 years. All of these agreements are classified as operating leases.

The following schedule provides an analysis of the net book value of our plant, property and equipment under the
operating leases to BP Chemicals and BASF as of December 31, 2009 (in thousands):

Machinery and equipment $ 81,842

Other 1,367

Less: accumulated depreciation (52,939)
$ 30,270

The following is a schedule by year of minimum future rentals to be received for operating leases with BP
Chemicals and BASF, whose operating lease will be terminated effective December 31, 2010, as of December 31,
2009 (in thousands):

Year ending December 31:

2010 $ 8,195
2011 4,875
2012 4,875
2013 4,875
2014 4,875
Thereafter 7,716

$35,411

The following schedule shows the composition of revenue derived from the operating leases with BP Chemicals
and BASF, whose operating lease will be terminated effective December 31, 2010, (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2009 2008
Minimum rentals $ 3,260 $ 3,200
Contingent rentals(!) 16,742 28,634
$ 20,002 $ 31,834

() Contingent
rentals are
primarily based
on profit
sharing.
The following is a schedule by year of future minimum rental payments by us required under the operating lease
with Praxair that has a remaining lease term in excess of one year as of December 31, 2009 (in thousands):

Year ending December 31:

2010 $ 7,751
2011 7,751
2012 7,751
2013 7,751
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2014 7,751
Thereafter 12,272
$51,027

The following schedule shows the composition of total rental expense for the operating lease with Praxair (in
thousands):
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Minimum rentals
Contingent rentals(!)

() Contingent
rentals are based
on carbon
monoxide
purchases in
excess of the
minimum
purchase
requirement.

Year ended December 31,

2009
$ 7,51
$ 7,51

2008
$ 7,751
216
$ 7,967

We have entered into various non-cancelable long-term operating leases. Specifically, future minimum lease
commitments for the lease of our corporate offices at December 31, 2009 are as follows: 2010 $0.3 million; 2011
$0.3 million; 2012 $0.3 million; 2013 $0.2 million and thereafter zero. Rent expense for our corporate offices was
$0.3 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively.

11. Operating Segment and Sales Information

As of December 31, 2009, after considering the effects of discontinued operations, we have reported our operations
through two segments: acetic acid and plasticizers. The accounting policies are the same as those described in Note 1.
We use gross profit for reporting the results of our operating segments and this measure includes all operating items
related to the businesses. There are no sales between segments. The revenues and gross profit (losses) for each of our

reportable operating segments are as follows:

Revenues:
Acetic acid
Plasticizers
Other

Total

Segment gross profit (loss):
Acetic acid

Plasticizers

Other™

Total

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Impairment of long-lived assets

Interest and debt related expenses

Table of Contents

Year ended December 31,

2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)
$ 87,270 $ 129,696

26,044 31,030
1,020 949

$ 114,334 $ 161,675
$ 5,521 $ 28,135
5,878 4,133
(265) (2,122)
11,134 30,146
12,875 12,331
7,403

15,767 17,175
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Interest income
Other income

(Loss) income from continuing operations before income tax
Depreciation and amortization expenses:

Acetic acid

Plasticizers

Other®

Total

Capital expenditures:

Acetic acid

Other plant infrastructure

Total

64

(742)
(3,481)
$ (13,285)
$ 7434
1,306
1,112
$ 9,852
$ 5,864
4,665
$ 10,529

$

(4,408)
(2,030)

(325)

6,209
1,724
1,669

9,602

3,467
2,950

6,417
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Total assets:
Acetic acid
Plasticizers
Other®

Total

€]

@

3

Gross loss for
Other includes
various
unallocated
corporate
charges and
credits.

Includes
depreciation and
amortization
expenses for
discontinued
operations of
less than

$0.1 million and
$0.5 million for
the periods
ended
December 31,
2009 and
December 31,
2008,
respectively.

Components of
Other are
presented in the
table below:

Other:
Corporate:
Cash
Other
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December 31,
2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

$ 35,362 $ 40,241
5,412 6,345
179,391 218,656

$220,165 $265,242

December 31,
2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)

$123,778 $ 156,126
17,677 20,634
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Plant infrastructure:

Property, plant and equipment, net 37,912 41,730
Assets of discontinued operations 24 166
Total $179,391 $218,656

Sales to major customers constituting 10% or more of total revenues from continuing operations were as follows
(there were no export sales):

Year ended December 31,
2009 2008
(Dollars in Thousands)
Major customers:
BP Chemicals $ 87,270 $ 129,696
BASF Corporation 26,044 31,030
12. Fair Value Measurements
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
In accordance with the provisions of the Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic of the ASC, the fair
value of our financial instrument has been estimated in accordance with GAAP. The fair value of our fixed rate
long-term debt is estimated based on quoted market prices or prices quoted from third-party financial institutions. The
carrying and fair values of our long-term debt are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2009 2008
Carrying Carrying
Value Fair Value Value Fair Value
10.25% senior secured notes due April 2015 $ 125,000 $ 119,400 $ 150,000 $ 132,000

The fair values of our cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade payables approximate their carrying values due
to the short-term nature of these instruments.
Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements
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Effective January 1, 2009, fair value measurements were applied with respect to our nonfinancial assets and
liabilities. We measure certain non-financial assets and liabilities, including long-lived assets, at fair value on a
non-recurring basis. The fair market value of those assets is determined using Level 3 inputs, which requires
management to make estimates about future cash flows. Management estimates the amount and timing of future cash
flows based on its experience and knowledge of market factors. Refer to Note 1  Long-Lived Assets for additional
discussion.

13. Capital Stock

Under our Certificate of Incorporation, we are authorized to issue 100,125,000 shares of capital stock, consisting of
100,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, and 125,000 shares of preferred stock, par value
$0.01 per share. In December 2002, we made our initial issuance of 2,825,000 shares of common stock. Subject to
applicable law and the provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation and the indenture governing our Secured Notes,
dividends may be declared on our shares of capital stock at the discretion of our Board of Directors and may be paid
in cash, in property or in shares of our capital stock. In December 2002, we also issued warrants to purchase, in the
aggregate, 949,367 shares of common stock. None of these warrants were exercised prior to their expiration on
December 19, 2008.

14. Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

Under our Certificate of Incorporation, we are authorized to issue 125,000 shares of preferred stock, par value
$0.01 per share. In December 2002, we authorized 25,000 shares and made an initial issuance of 2,175 shares of our
Preferred Stock. Each share of our Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the holder thereof at any time into
1,000 shares of our common stock, subject to adjustments. Our Preferred Stock has a cumulative dividend rate of 4%
per quarter of the liquidation value of the outstanding shares of our Preferred Stock, payable in additional shares of
our Preferred Stock in arrears on the first business day of each calendar quarter. As shares of our Preferred Stock are
convertible into shares of our common stock (currently on a one to 1,000 share basis), each dividend paid in additional
shares of our Preferred Stock has a dilutive effect on our shares of common stock. Since the initial issuance of our
Preferred Stock, we have issued an additional 4,384.050 shares of our Preferred Stock in dividends (convertible into
4,384,050 shares of our common stock).

Our Preferred Stock carries a liquidation preference of $13,793 per share, subject to adjustments. We may redeem
all or any number of our shares of Preferred Stock at any time after December 19, 2005, at a redemption price
determined in accordance with the Certificate of Designations, Preferences, Rights and Limitations of our Preferred
Stock, provided that the current equity value of our capital stock issued in December 2002 exceeds specified levels.
The holders of our Preferred Stock may elect to have us redeem all or any of their shares of our Preferred Stock
following a specified change of control at a redemption price equal to the greater of:

the liquidation preference for such shares (plus accrued and unpaid dividends);

in the event of a merger or consolidation, the fair market value of the consideration that would have been
received in such merger or consolidation in respect of the shares of our common stock into which such shares
of our Preferred Stock were convertible immediately prior to such merger or consolidation had such shares of
our Preferred Stock been converted prior thereto; or

in the event of some other specified change of control, the current market value of the shares of our common
stock into which such shares of our Preferred Stock were convertible immediately prior to such change of
control had such shares of our Preferred Stock been converted prior thereto (plus accrued and unpaid
dividends).

Given that certain of the redemption features are outside of our control, our Preferred Stock has been reflected in
the consolidated balance sheet as temporary equity.

Our Preferred Stock dividends are recorded at their fair value, at each dividend accrual date. The fair value of our
Preferred Stock dividends is determined each quarter using valuation techniques that include a component
representing the intrinsic value of the dividends (which represents the greater of the liquidation value of the shares of
our Preferred Stock being issued or the fair value of the common stock into which those shares could be converted)
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dividends are subtracted from net income in our consolidated statements of operations, and added to the balance of

redeemable preferred stock in our consolidated balance sheets. As we are in an accumulated deficit position, these
dividends are treated as a reduction to additional paid-in capital.

Assumptions utilized in the Black-Scholes model include: 2009 2008
Risk-free interest rate 2.7% 1.6%
Volatility 72.2% 63.6%
Dividend yield

Expected term 5.0 5.0

Our Series A Preferred Stock is not currently redeemable or probable of redemption. If our Series A Preferred
Stock had been redeemed as of December 31, 2009, the redemption amount would have been approximately
$45.9 million. The liquidation value of the outstanding shares of our Series A Preferred Stock as of December 31,
2009 was $90.5 million.

15. Related Party Transactions

Resurgence Asset Management, L.L.C., or Resurgence, has beneficial ownership of a substantial majority of the
voting power of our equity securities due to its investment and disposition authority over securities owned by its and
its affiliates managed funds and accounts. Currently, Resurgence has beneficial ownership of 98.3% of our Preferred
Stock and 55.3% of our common stock, representing ownership of over 85% of the total voting power of our equity.
Each share of our Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the holder thereof at any time into 1,000 shares of our
common stock, subject to adjustments. The holders of our Preferred Stock are entitled to designate a number of our
directors roughly proportionate to their overall equity ownership, but in any event not less than a majority of our
directors as long as they hold in the aggregate at least 35% of the total voting power of our equity. As a result, these
holders have the ability to control our management, policies and financing decisions, elect a majority of our Board and
control the vote on most matters presented to a vote of our stockholders. In addition, our shares of Preferred Stock,
almost all of which are beneficially owned by Resurgence, carry a cumulative dividend rate of 4% per quarter, payable
in additional shares of our Preferred Stock. Each dividend paid in additional shares of our Preferred Stock has a
dilutive effect on our shares of common stock and increases the percentage of the total voting power of our equity
beneficially owned by Resurgence. Preferred Stock dividends were 952.346 shares and 814.069 shares during 2009
and 2008, respectively. Three of our directors, Messrs. Daniel Fishbane, Karl Schwarzfeld and Philip Sivin, are
currently employed by Resurgence or its affiliates. In addition, two of our former directors, Steven L. Gidumal and
Byron Haney, were employed by Resurgence during the period they served as directors on our Board. Pursuant to
established policies of Resurgence, all director compensation earned by these directors was paid to Resurgence.
During 2009 and 2008, we paid Resurgence an aggregate amount equal to $148,000 and $201,000, respectively,
related to director compensation for Messrs. Fishbane, Gidumal, Haney, Schwarzfeld and Sivin, along with
reimbursement of an immaterial amount of direct, out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with services as
directors.

16. New Accounting Standards
Adoption of Accounting Standards:

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Accounting Standards
Codification, or ASC, Topic 805, Business Combinations, or Topic 805. Topic 805 applies to all transactions and
other events in which one entity obtains control over one or more other businesses. Topic 805 provides guidance for
fair value measurement and recognition of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and interests transferred and disclosures
required as a result of a business combination. We implemented Topic 805 effective January 1, 2009, and it had no
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued ASC Topic 810-10-65-1, Consolidation Noncontrolling Interests in
Consolidated Financial Statements; an Amendment of ARB No. 51, or Topic 810-10-65-1. Topic 810-10-65-1
establishes the accounting and reporting standards for a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the
deconsolidation of a subsidiary, and clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary is an ownership interest in
the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements. Topic §10-10-65-1
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applies prospectively to business combinations for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. We implemented
Topic 810-10-65-1 effective January 1, 2009, and it had no impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued ASC Topic 808, Collaborative Arrangements, or Topic 808. Topic 808
defines collaborative arrangements and establishes reporting requirements for transactions between participants in a
collaborative arrangement and between participants in the arrangement and third parties. Topic 808 is effective for
financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal
years and applies retrospectively to all prior periods presented for all collaborative arrangements existing as of the
effective date. We implemented Topic 808 effective June 30, 2009, and it had no impact on our consolidated financial
statements.

In March 2008, the FASB issued ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, or Topic 815. Topic 815 requires
enhanced disclosures about an entity s derivative and hedging activities to provide users of financial statements with an
enhanced understanding of how and why an entity uses derivative instruments, how derivative instruments and related
hedged items are accounted for and how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity s financial
position, financial performance and cash flows. We implemented Topic 815 effective January 1, 2009, and it had no
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2008, the FASB issued ASC Topic 715-20-50, Compensation Retirement Benefits, or Topic
715-20-50. Topic 715-20-50 requires enhanced disclosures about the assets held by defined benefit pension and other
post-retirement plans. The enhanced disclosures required by Topic 715-20-50 are intended to provide users of
financial statements with a greater understanding of:

how investment allocation decisions are made, including the factors that are pertinent to an understanding
of investment policies and strategies;

the major categories of plan assets;
the inputs and valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of plan assets;

the effect of fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) on changes in plan
assets for reporting periods; and

significant concentrations of risk within plan assets.
Topic 715-20-50 is effective for the year ending December 31, 2009. We implemented Topic 715-20-50 for the period
ending December 31, 2009, and have enhanced our disclosures to comply with Topic 715-20-50.

In April 2009, the FASB issued ASC Topic 805-20-25-18A, Business Combinations Assets and Liabilities that
Arise from Contingencies, or Topic 805-20-25-18A, which applies to all assets acquired and all liabilities assumed in
a business combination that arise from contingencies. Topic 805-20-25-18A requires the acquirer to recognize such an
asset or liability at the acquisition date if the acquisition date fair value of that asset or liability can be determined
during the measurement period or, if it cannot be determined during the measurement period, if, consistent with ASC
Topic 450, Contingencies, information available before the end of the measurement period indicates that it is probable
that an asset existed or that a liability had been incurred at the acquisition date and the amount of the asset or liability
can be reasonably estimated. We implemented ASC Topic 805-20-25-18A effective January 1, 2009, and it had no
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued ASC Topic 825-10-65-1, Financial Instruments Interim Disclosures about Fair
Value of Financial Instruments, or Topic 825-10-65-1. Topic 825-10-65-1 requires the disclosure of the fair value of
financial instruments for interim reporting periods of publicly traded companies as well as for their annual financial
statements. Topic 825-10-65-1 is effective for interim reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009, with early
adoption permitted for periods ending after March 15, 2009. We implemented Topic 825-10-65-1 for the period
ending June 30, 2009, and have enhanced our disclosures to comply with Topic §25-10-65-1.

68

Table of Contents 95



Edgar Filing: Patient Safety Technologies, Inc - Form S-3/A

Table of Contents

In April 2009, the FASB issued ASC Topic 320-10-65-1, Investments Debt and Equity Securities Recognition
and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments, or Topic 320-10-65-1, which provides new guidance on the
recognition of other-than-temporary impairments of investments in debt securities and provides new presentation and
disclosure requirements for other-than-temporary impairments of investments in debt and equity securities. Topic
320-10-65-1 became effective for our quarter ending June 30, 2009. We implemented Topic 320-10-65-1 for the
period ending June 30, 2009, and it had no impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued ASC Topic 820-10-65-4, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures - Determining
Fair Value When the Volume and Level of Activity for the Asset or Liability Have Significantly Decreased and
Identifying Transactions That Are Not Orderly, or Topic 820-10-65-4. Topic 820-10-65-4 provides additional
guidance for estimating fair value in accordance with Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, when the
volume and level of activity for the asset or liability have significantly decreased. Topic 820-10-65-4 also includes
guidance on identifying circumstances that indicate a transaction is not orderly. Topic 820-10-65-4 became effective
for our quarter ending June 30, 2009. We implemented Topic 820-10-65-4 effective June 30, 2009, and it had no
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2009, the FASB issued ASC Topic 105, Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, or Topic 105, which
establishes the FASB Accounting Standards Codification™, or the Codification, as the single source of authoritative
U.S. GAAP recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities. Rules and interpretive releases of the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, under authority of federal securities laws are also sources of
authoritative U.S. GAAP for SEC registrants. Topic 105 and the Codification are effective for financial statements
issued for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009. We implemented Topic 105 effective
September 30, 2009, and are following the guidance of Topic 105 and the Codification in applying U.S. GAAP.

In August 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, No. 2009-05, an amendment to ASC
Topic 820-10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Overall, or ASU No. 2009-05, which provides guidance on
the fair value measurement of liabilities. ASU 2009-05 is effective for the first reporting period (including interim
periods) beginning after its issuance, and is, therefore, effective for us beginning with the fourth quarter of 2009. We
implemented Topic 820-10 for the period ending December 31, 2009 and it had no impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

Future Adoption of Accounting Standards:

In September 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-12, an amendment to ASC Topic 820-10, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures Overall, or ASU No. 2009-12, to provide guidance on the fair value measurement of
investments in certain entities that calculate net asset value per share (or its equivalent). ASU No. 2009-12 is effective
for interim and annual reporting periods ending after December 15, 2009. We do not believe the implementation of
ASU 2009-12 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06, an amendment to ASC Topic 820-10, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 820): Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements , or ASU
No. 2010-06. ASU No. 2010-06 requires some new disclosures and clarifies some existing disclosure requirements
about fair value measurement as set forth in Codification Subtopic 820-10. The objective of ASU No. 2010-06 is to
improve these disclosures and, thus, increase the transparency in financial reporting. Specifically, ASU 2010-06
amends Codification Subtopic 820-10 to now require:

a reporting entity to disclose separately the amounts of significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level
2 fair value measurements and describe the reasons for the transfers; and

in the reconciliation for fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs, a reporting entity to
present separately information about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements.
In addition, ASU 2010-06 clarifies the requirements of the following existing disclosures:
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for purposes of reporting fair value measurement for each class of assets and liabilities, a reporting entity
needs to use judgment in determining the appropriate classes of assets and liabilities; and

a reporting entity should provide disclosures about the valuation techniques and inputs used to measure fair
value for both recurring and nonrecurring fair value measurements.
ASU 2010-06 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the
disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements in the roll forward of activity in Level 3 fair value
measurements. Those disclosures are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010 and for interim
periods within those fiscal years. Early application is permitted. We do not believe the implementation of ASU
2010-06 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A(T). Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act) designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information
required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC s rules and forms. These include controls and
procedures designed to ensure that this information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including
our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance
of achieving their control objectives. Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our
Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31,
2009. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have concluded that
because of the material weakness described below, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of
December 31, 2009 at the reasonable assurance level.

Management s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the
Exchange Act). Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance of
achieving their control objectives.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009. In making this assessment,
our management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission, or COSO, in Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Based on this evaluation, our management, with
the participation of the our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, concluded that, as of
December 31, 2009, our internal control over financial reporting was not effective due to the material weakness
described below.

Our management identified a control deficiency that represents a material weakness in our internal control over
financial reporting. The material weaknesses identified by management resulted from a lack of effective controls over
the review and approval of non-routine transactions. In particular, the material weakness related to the review and
approval of cost allocation billing corrections. See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Management is in the process of identifying the remediation actions required to successfully remediate the
identified material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting, which will include supplementing our
written policies and procedures over non-routine transactions to formalize the review and approval process between
accounting and other applicable personnel. We anticipate that the remediation actions will be identified and
implemented by the end of the second quarter of 2010.

Notwithstanding our assessment that our internal controls over financial reporting were not effective and that there
was a material weakness as identified in this report, we believe that our financial statements contained in this report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 accurately present our financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows in all material respects.

This annual report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal
control over financial reporting. Management s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting
firm pursuant to temporary rules of the SEC that permit us to provide only management s report in this annual report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. There have been no changes in our internal control over
financial reporting for the quarter ended December 31, 2009, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Reference is made to the information responsive to Item 10 of this Part III contained in our definitive proxy
statement for our 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders which is hereby incorporated herein by reference in response
to this item.
Item 11. Executive Compensation

Reference is made to the information responsive to Item 11 of this Part III contained in our definitive proxy
statement for our 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders which is hereby incorporated herein by reference in response
to this item.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Reference is made to the information responsive to Item 12 of this Part III contained in our definitive proxy
statement for our 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders which is hereby incorporated herein by reference in response
to this item.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Reference is made to the information responsive to Item 13 of this Part III contained in our definitive proxy
statement for our 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders which is hereby incorporated herein by reference in response
to this item.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Reference is made to the information responsive to Item 14 of this Part III contained in our definitive proxy
statement for our 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders which is hereby incorporated herein by reference in response
to this item.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Consolidated Financial statement Schedules
(a) Financial Statements, Financial Statement Schedules and Exhibits.
1. Consolidated Financial Statements. See Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data Index to
Financial Statements.

2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules. All schedules for which provision is made in Regulation S-X
either are not required under the related instruction or are inapplicable and, therefore, have been omitted.

3. Exhibits.

See the Exhibit Index for a list of those exhibits filed herewith, which index also includes and

identifies management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements required to be filed as exhibits to
this Form 10-K by Item 601(b)(10)(iii) of Regulation S-K.
(b) Exhibit Index.

Exhibit
Number
3.1

3.1(a)

32

33

4.1

4.2

4.3

Table of Contents

Description of Exhibit

Second Amended and Restated Certification of Incorporation of Sterling Chemicals, Inc.
(incorporated herein by reference to Annex A to the Company s definitive proxy statement on
Schedule 14A filed on April 15, 2008).

Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of
Sterling Chemicals, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2009).

Restated Certificate of Designations, Preferences, Rights and Limitations of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock of Sterling Chemicals, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003).

Restated Bylaws of Sterling Chemicals, Inc. (conformed copy) (incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 3.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31,
2007).

Tag Along Agreement dated as of December 19, 2002 by and among Sterling Chemicals, Inc.,
Resurgence Asset Management, L.L.C. and the Official Committee of the Unsecured Creditors
(incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 8 to our Form 8-A filed on December 19, 2002
(SEC File Number 000-50132)).

Indenture dated March 29, 2007 by and among Sterling Chemicals, Inc., as Issuer, Sterling
Chemicals Energy, Inc., as Guarantor, and U. S. Bank National Association, as Trustee and
Collateral Agent, governing the 10'/4% Senior Secured Notes due 2015 of Sterling Chemicals,
Inc. (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarterly period ended March 31, 2007).

Deed of Trust, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing dated
March 29, 2007 made by Sterling Chemicals, Inc., Trustor, to Stanley Keeton, an Individual
Trustee, for the benefit of U. S. Bank National Association, as Collateral Agent, Beneficiary.
(incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2007).
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Sterling Chemicals Energy, Inc., as Assignors, U. S. Bank National Association, as
73

Table of Contents 101



Table of Contents

Exhibit
Number

4.5

4.6

10.1

10.1(a)

*#10.1(b)

10.2

10.3
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Description of Exhibit

Collateral Agent, and U. S. Bank National Association, as Indenture Trustee for the benefit of the
holders the 10'/4% Senior Secured Notes due 2015 of Sterling Chemicals, Inc. (incorporated
herein by reference from Exhibit 4.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended March 31, 2007).

Pledge Agreement dated as of March 29, 2007 by Sterling Chemicals, Inc. and Sterling Chemicals
Energy, Inc. in favor of U. S. Bank National Association, as Collateral Agent for the Secured
Parties (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2007).

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of March 29, 2007 by and among Sterling Chemicals,
Inc., as the Company, Sterling Chemicals Energy, Inc., as Guarantor, and Jefferies & Company,
Inc. and CIBC World Markets Corp., as the Initial Purchasers of the 101/4% Senior Secured Notes
due 2015 of Sterling Chemicals, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.6 to our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2007).

Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of March 29, 2007 by and among
Sterling Chemicals, Inc. and Sterling Chemicals Energy, Inc., as Borrowers, the various financial
institutions as are or may become parties thereto from time to time, as the Lenders, and The CIT
Group/Business Credit, Inc., as the Administrative Agent for the Lenders, and Wachovia Bank,
National Association, as Documentation Agent (incorporated herein by reference from

Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31,
2007).

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of

November 7, 2008 among Sterling Chemicals, Inc., The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc., as the
Administrative Agent for the Lenders and the Lenders (incorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30,
2008).

Letter dated December 10, 2009 from Sterling Chemicals Inc. electing to terminate Amended and
Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated March 29, 2007 by and among Sterling Chemicals,
Inc. and Sterling Chemicals Energy, Inc., as Borrowers, the various financial institutions as are or
may become parties thereto from time to time, as the Lenders, and The CIT Group/Business
Credit, Inc., as the Administrative Agent for the Lenders, and Wachovia Bank, National
Association, as Documentation Agent.

Amended and Restated Security Agreement dated as of March 29, 2007 made by Sterling
Chemicals, Inc. and Sterling Chemicals Energy, Inc., as Grantors, in favor of The CIT
Group/Business Credit, Inc. as Administrative Agent for the Secured Parties (incorporated herein
by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended March 31, 2007).

Amended and Restated Pledge Agreement dated as of March 29, 2007 made by Sterling

Chemicals, Inc. and Sterling Chemicals Energy, Inc. as Pledgors, in favor of The CIT
Group/Business Credit, Inc., as Administrative Agent for the Secured Parties (incorporated herein
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by reference from Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended March 31, 2007).

10.4 Intercreditor Agreement dated as of March 29, 2007 among Sterling Chemicals, Inc. and Sterling
Chemicals Energy, Inc., as Borrowers, The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc., as First Lien
Collateral Agent, and U. S. Bank National Association, as Second Lien Collateral Agent
(incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2007).

10.5% Second Amended and Restated 2002 Stock Plan (incorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31,
2009).
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Description of Exhibit
Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2009).

$5,000,000 Revolving Line of Credit for letters of credit from JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. to
Sterling Chemicals, Inc.

Fifth Amended and Restated Key Employee Protection Plan (incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2006).

First Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Key Employee Protection Plan.

Fourth Amended and Restated Severance Pay Plan (incorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period September 30, 2009).

First Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Severance Pay Plan.

Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Salaried Employees Pension Plan (incorporated
herein by reference from Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended September 30, 2006).

First Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Salaried Employees
Pension Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.7(a) to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006).

Second Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Salaried Employees
Pension Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2007).

Third Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Salaried Employees
Pension Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.8(c) to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007).

Fourth Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Salaried Employees
Pension Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.8(d) to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007).

415 Compliance Appendix to Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Salaried
Employees Pension Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.8(e) to our Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008).

Sixth Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Salaried Employees
Pension Plan.

Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Pension Benefit Equalization Plan (incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 10.10 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 33-24020)).
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10.11(a)* First Amendment to Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Pension Benefit Equalization Plan (incorporated
herein by reference from Exhibit 10.9(a) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2004).

10.12* Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan
(incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.34 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 1989 (SEC File Number 1-10059)).
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*#10.18(b)*

10.19
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Description of Exhibit

First Amendment to Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Supplemental Employee
Retirement Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.10(a) to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004).

Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Hourly Paid Employees Pension Plan (Effective
as of January 1, 2007) (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2007).

First Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Hourly Paid Employees
Pension Plan (Effective as of January 1, 2007) (incorporated herein by reference from

Exhibit 10.11(a) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2007).

415 Compliance Appendix to Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Hourly Paid
Employees Pension Plan. (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.11(b) to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008).

Third Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Hourly Paid Employees
Pension Plan.

Fourth Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Hourly Paid
Employees Pension Plan.

Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Savings and Investment Plan.
2010 Bonus Plan

2009 Bonus Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed
January 15, 2009).

2008 Bonus Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on August 22, 2008).

Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Comprehensive Welfare Benefit Plan (incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2007).

First Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Comprehensive Welfare Benefit Plan
(incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.14(a) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008).

Second Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Comprehensive Welfare Benefit Plan.
Articles of Agreement between Sterling Chemicals, Inc., its successors and assigns, and Texas

City, Texas Metal Trades Council, AFL-CIO Texas City, Texas, May 1, 2007 to May 1, 2012
(incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
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the quarterly period ended March 31, 2007).

Form of Indemnity Agreement between Sterling Chemicals, Inc. and each of its officers and
directors (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.17 to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 1996 (SEC File Number 333-04343-01)).

2008 Amended and Restated Production Agreement dated effective as of January 1, 2008

between BP Amoco Chemical Company and Sterling Chemicals, Inc. (incorporated herein by

reference from Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 22, 2008).
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Description of Exhibit

Third Amended and Restated Plasticizers Production Agreement dated effective as of April 1,
2008 between BASF Corporation and Sterling Chemicals, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 25, 2008).

First Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Plasticizers Production Agreement dated
effective as of July 1, 2009 between BASF Corporation and Sterling Chemicals, Inc.

(incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended September 30, 2009).

License Agreement dated August 1, 1986 between Monsanto Company and Sterling Chemicals,
Inc. (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.25 to our Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Registration No. 33-24020)).

Agreement for the Exclusive Supply of Styrene by and between Sterling Chemicals, Inc. and
NOVA Chemicals Inc., dated September 17, 2007 (incorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit 10.20 to Amendment No. 1 to our Form S-4 Registration Statement (Registration

No. 333-145803)).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Sterling Chemicals, Inc. and John V.
Genova, dated as of June 16, 2009 but retroactively effective to May 27, 2008 (incorporated
herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended June 30, 2009).

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Sterling
Chemicals, Inc. and John V. Genova.

Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial
Officers (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 14.1 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2003).

Subsidiaries of Sterling Chemicals, Inc.

Consent of Grant Thornton LLP

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Principal Financial Officer

Section 1350 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer

Section 1350 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer

Amended and Restated Audit Committee Charter of Sterling Chemicals, Inc.

Compensation Committee Charter of Sterling Chemicals, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 99.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
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September 30, 2006).

*  Management
contracts or
compensatory
plans or
arrangements.

**  Filed or
furnished
herewith.

+  Portions of the
exhibit have
been omitted
and filed
separately with
the Securities
and Exchange
Commission
pursuant to a
request for
confidential
treatment.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly

caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 24, 2010

STERLING CHEMICALS, INC.

(Registrant)

By: /s/ JOHN V. GENOVA
John V. Genova

President, Chief Executive Officer and

Director

By: /s/ DAVID J. COLLINS
David J. Collins
Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer
Principal Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

Principal Executive Officer:
/s/ JOHN V. GENOVA
John V. Genova

Principal Financial Officer:
/s/ DAVID J. COLLINS

David J. Collins

Principal Accounting Officer:

/s/ CARLA E. STUCKY
Carla E. Stucky

/s/ RICHARD K. CRUMP
Richard K. Crump

/s/ JOHN W. GILDEA

John W. Gildea

Table of Contents

Title

President, Chief Executive Officer and

Director

Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer Principal Financial

Officer

Vice President and Corporate

Controller Principal Accounting

Officer

Director

Director

Date

March 24, 2010

March 24, 2010

March 24, 2010

March 24, 2010

March 24, 2010
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/s/ DANIEL M. FISHBANE
Daniel M. Fishbane

/s/ KARL W. SCHWARZFELD
Karl W. Schwarzfeld

/s/ PHILIP M. SIVIN

Philip M. Sivin

/s/ DR. PETER TING KAI WU
Dr. Peter Ting Kai Wu

/s/ JOHN L. TEEGER

John L. Teeger

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Description of Exhibit

Second Amended and Restated Certification of Incorporation of Sterling Chemicals, Inc.
(incorporated herein by reference to Annex A to the Company s definitive proxy statement on
Schedule 14A filed on April 15, 2008).

Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of
Sterling Chemicals, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2009).

Restated Certificate of Designations, Preferences, Rights and Limitations of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock of Sterling Chemicals, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003).

Restated Bylaws of Sterling Chemicals, Inc. (conformed copy) (incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 3.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31,
2007).

Tag Along Agreement dated as of December 19, 2002 by and among Sterling Chemicals, Inc.,
Resurgence Asset Management, L.L.C. and the Official Committee of the Unsecured Creditors
(incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 8 to our Form 8-A filed on December 19, 2002
(SEC File Number 000-50132)).

Indenture dated March 29, 2007 by and among Sterling Chemicals, Inc., as Issuer, Sterling
Chemicals Energy, Inc., as Guarantor, and U. S. Bank National Association, as Trustee and
Collateral Agent, governing the 10'/4% Senior Secured Notes due 2015 of Sterling Chemicals,
Inc. (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarterly period ended March 31, 2007).

Deed of Trust, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing dated
March 29, 2007 made by Sterling Chemicals, Inc., Trustor, to Stanley Keeton, an Individual
Trustee, for the benefit of U. S. Bank National Association, as Collateral Agent, Beneficiary.
(incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2007).

Security Agreement dated as of March 29, 2007 by and among Sterling Chemicals, Inc. and
Sterling Chemicals Energy, Inc., as Assignors, U. S. Bank National Association, as Collateral
Agent, and U. S. Bank National Association, as Indenture Trustee for the benefit of the holders
the 101/4% Senior Secured Notes due 2015 of Sterling Chemicals, Inc. (incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 4.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
March 31, 2007).

Pledge Agreement dated as of March 29, 2007 by Sterling Chemicals, Inc. and Sterling Chemicals
Energy, Inc. in favor of U. S. Bank National Association, as Collateral Agent for the Secured
Parties (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2007).
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Registration Rights Agreement dated as of March 29, 2007 by and among Sterling Chemicals,
Inc., as the Company, Sterling Chemicals Energy, Inc., as Guarantor, and Jefferies & Company,
Inc. and CIBC World Markets Corp., as the Initial Purchasers of the 101/4% Senior Secured Notes
due 2015 of Sterling Chemicals, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.6 to our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2007).
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Description of Exhibit

Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of March 29, 2007 by and among
Sterling Chemicals, Inc. and Sterling Chemicals Energy, Inc., as Borrowers, the various financial
institutions as are or may become parties thereto from time to time, as the Lenders, and The CIT
Group/Business Credit, Inc., as the Administrative Agent for the Lenders, and Wachovia Bank,
National Association, as Documentation Agent (incorporated herein by reference from

Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31,
2007).

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of

November 7, 2008 among Sterling Chemicals, Inc., The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc., as the
Administrative Agent for the Lenders and the Lenders (incorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30,
2008).

Letter dated December 10, 2009 from Sterling Chemicals Inc. electing to terminate Amended and
Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated March 29, 2007 by and among Sterling Chemicals,
Inc. and Sterling Chemicals Energy, Inc., as Borrowers, the various financial institutions as are or
may become parties thereto from time to time, as the Lenders, and The CIT Group/Business
Credit, Inc., as the Administrative Agent for the Lenders, and Wachovia Bank, National
Association, as Documentation Agent.

Amended and Restated Security Agreement dated as of March 29, 2007 made by Sterling
Chemicals, Inc. and Sterling Chemicals Energy, Inc., as Grantors, in favor of The CIT
Group/Business Credit, Inc. as Administrative Agent for the Secured Parties (incorporated herein
by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended March 31, 2007).

Amended and Restated Pledge Agreement dated as of March 29, 2007 made by Sterling
Chemicals, Inc. and Sterling Chemicals Energy, Inc. as Pledgors, in favor of The CIT
Group/Business Credit, Inc., as Administrative Agent for the Secured Parties (incorporated herein
by reference from Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended March 31, 2007).

Intercreditor Agreement dated as of March 29, 2007 among Sterling Chemicals, Inc. and Sterling
Chemicals Energy, Inc., as Borrowers, The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc., as First Lien
Collateral Agent, and U. S. Bank National Association, as Second Lien Collateral Agent
(incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2007).

Second Amended and Restated 2002 Stock Plan (incorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31,
2009).

Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2009).
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**10.7 $5,000,000 Revolving Line of Credit for letters of credit from JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. to
Sterling Chemicals, Inc.

10.8%* Fifth Amended and Restated Key Employee Protection Plan (incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2006).

**10.8(a)* First Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Key Employee Protection Plan.
10.9% Fourth Amended and Restated Severance Pay Plan (incorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period September 30, 2009).
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Description of Exhibit
First Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Severance Pay Plan.

Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Salaried Employees Pension Plan (incorporated
herein by reference from Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended September 30, 2006).

First Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Salaried Employees
Pension Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.7(a) to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006).

Second Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Salaried Employees
Pension Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2007).

Third Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Salaried Employees
Pension Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.8(c) to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007).

Fourth Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Salaried Employees
Pension Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.8(d) to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007).

415 Compliance Appendix to Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Salaried
Employees Pension Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.8(e) to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008).

Sixth Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Salaried Employees
Pension Plan.

Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Pension Benefit Equalization Plan (incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 10.10 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 33-24020)).

First Amendment to Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Pension Benefit Equalization Plan (incorporated
herein by reference from Exhibit 10.9(a) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2004).

Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan
(incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.34 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 1989 (SEC File Number 1-10059)).

First Amendment to Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Supplemental Employee
Retirement Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.10(a) to our Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004).

Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Hourly Paid Employees Pension Plan (Effective
as of January 1, 2007) (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly
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Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2007).

First Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Hourly Paid Employees
Pension Plan (Effective as of January 1, 2007) (incorporated herein by reference from

Exhibit 10.11(a) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2007).

415 Compliance Appendix to Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Hourly Paid
Employees Pension Plan. (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.11(b) to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008).
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Description of Exhibit
Third Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Hourly Paid Employees
Pension Plan.

Fourth Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Amended and Restated Hourly Paid
Employees Pension Plan.

Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Savings and Investment Plan.
2010 Bonus Plan

2009 Bonus Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed
January 15, 2009).

2008 Bonus Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on August 22, 2008).

Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Comprehensive Welfare Benefit Plan (incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2007).

First Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Comprehensive Welfare Benefit Plan
(incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.14(a) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008).

Second Amendment to the Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Comprehensive Welfare Benefit Plan.

Articles of Agreement between Sterling Chemicals, Inc., its successors and assigns, and Texas
City, Texas Metal Trades Council, AFL-CIO Texas City, Texas, May 1, 2007 to May 1, 2012

(incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarterly period ended March 31, 2007).

Form of Indemnity Agreement between Sterling Chemicals, Inc. and each of its officers and
directors (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.17 to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 1996 (SEC File Number 333-04343-01)).

2008 Amended and Restated Production Agreement dated effective as of January 1, 2008
between BP Amoco Chemical Company and Sterling Chemicals, Inc. (incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 22, 2008).

Third Amended and Restated Plasticizers Production Agreement dated effective as of April 1,
2008 between BASF Corporation and Sterling Chemicals, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 25, 2008).

First Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Plasticizers Production Agreement dated

effective as of July 1, 2009 between BASF Corporation and Sterling Chemicals, Inc.
(incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
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the quarterly period ended September 30, 2009).

10.23 License Agreement dated August 1, 1986 between Monsanto Company and Sterling Chemicals,
Inc. (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.25 to our Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Registration No. 33-24020)).
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Number Description of Exhibit

+10.24 Agreement for the Exclusive Supply of Styrene by and between Sterling Chemicals, Inc. and
NOVA Chemicals Inc., dated September 17, 2007 (incorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit 10.20 to Amendment No. 1 to our Form S-4 Registration Statement (Registration
No. 333-145803)).

10.25* Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Sterling Chemicals, Inc. and John V.
Genova, dated as of June 16, 2009 but retroactively effective to May 27, 2008 (incorporated
herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended June 30, 2009).

**10.25(a)* First Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Sterling
Chemicals, Inc. and John V. Genova.
14.1 Sterling Chemicals, Inc. Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial
Officers (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 14.1 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2003).

*#)1.1 Subsidiaries of Sterling Chemicals, Inc.

*%23.1 Consent of Grant Thornton LLP

**31.1 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer

**31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Principal Financial Officer

*%32.1 Section 1350 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer

*%32.2 Section 1350 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer

**00Q 1 Amended and Restated Audit Committee Charter of Sterling Chemicals, Inc.

99.2 Compensation Committee Charter of Sterling Chemicals, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference

from Exhibit 99.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2006).

*  Management
contracts or
compensatory
plans or
arrangements.

**  Filed or
furnished

herewith.
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Portions of the
exhibit have
been omitted
and filed
separately with
the Securities
and Exchange
Commission
pursuant to a
request for
confidential
treatment.
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